

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Strategies Advanced Placement High School Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners

Patti J. Tate Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Patti J. Tate

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Karen Hunt, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Heather Caldwell, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Mary Howe, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies Advanced Placement High School Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners

by

Patti J. Tate

MEd, Converse College, 1987

BS, Appalachian State University, 1986

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

June 2021

#### Abstract

Since Advanced Placement (AP) College Board's 2002 implementation of the Equity and Access Policy, the number of students enrolled in AP courses has increased, but student success on passing AP exams has dropped. This signifies that the new populations of AP students are not well prepared with the skillsets necessary to succeed on AP exams. This qualitative exploratory case study focused on how high school AP teachers in one southeastern school district provided differentiated instruction (DI) through content and strategies to diverse learners. Data on the use of DI with AP students were collected through interviews of AP teachers at two schools and document reviews of AP Professional Learning Community Canvas files. The framework for the study was based on Gardner's multiple intelligences, Vygotsky's zone of proximal development, and Tomlinson's differentiation model for instruction. The study detailed how AP teachers selected content, implemented strategies, and created classroom environments using DI frameworks. Seven AP teachers of varying subject expertise participated in the study. Data from the interviews and document reviews were transcribed, coded, and analyzed for common themes. Findings showed that AP teachers used College Board AP resources to guide instruction and content to provide student-centered learning. AP teachers also understand how their knowledge of students and their relationships with them are necessary for DI. The teachers' perspectives indicated that they needed opportunities and time to explore DI strategies to assist AP students. A three-day professional development workshop was created as a project based on the findings. Positive social change might occur if more academically diverse students are provided with student-centered learning to succeed in AP courses and subsequently in postsecondary environments.

Strategies Advanced Placement High School Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners

by

Patti J. Tate

MEd, Converse College, 1987

BS, Appalachian State University, 1986

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

June 2021

# Dedication

This study is dedicated to David, Zachary, and Payton. Throughout the journey, you all were always encouraging and gave me confidence that I could succeed. Thank you for believing in my dream.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my sincerest appreciation to my committee chair, Dr. Karen Hunt, for her support, guidance, and encouragement throughout my doctoral journey. Additionally, I sincerely thank Dr. Heather Caldwell and Dr. Mary Howe for providing support and feedback to assist me in my study.

Thank you to everyone who participated in the study. I am deeply grateful for the support of everyone who has been a part of my journey.

List of Tables	v
Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	2
Definition of Terms	4
Significance of the Study	5
Research Questions	6
Review of the Literature	7
The Conceptual Framework	. 7
Description of DI	10
DI Strategies	12
DI Lesson Planning	15
DI and AP	19
Positive Effects of DI Strategies	22
Teacher Concerns About DI	24
Implications	26
Summary	27
Section 2: The Methodology	28
Qualitative Research Design and Approach	28
Participants	31
Number of Participants	32

# Table of Contents

Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants	
Data Collection	34
Interviews	35
Document Review	
Sufficiency of Data Collection	
Role of the Researcher	39
Data Analysis	40
Analysis of Interviews	41
Analysis of Document Reviews	
Evidence of Quality to Assure Accuracy and Credibility of Findings	
Transferability	
Discrepant Cases	44
Data Analysis Results	44
Findings and Themes for RQ1	51
Findings and Themes for RQ2	55
Findings and Themes for RQ3	57
Findings and Themes for RQ4	61
Findings and Themes for RQ5	63
Discrepant Cases	64
Evidence of Quality	64
Summary	65
Conclusion	67

Section 3: The Project	69
Introduction	69
Project Description and Goals	69
Rationale	70
Review of the Literature	71
Professional Development	72
DI Professional Development	76
Project Description	78
Three-Session Professional Development Workshop	
Potential Resources and Existing Supports	
Potential Barriers and Potential Solutions to Barriers	79
Implementation and Timetable	79
Roles and Responsibilities of Student and Others	
Project Evaluation Plan	81
Stakeholders	
Project Implications	83
Local Community	83
Larger Context	83
Conclusion	84
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	85
Introduction	85
Project Strengths and Limitations	85

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	86
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	87
Scholarship	87
Project Development	87
Leadership and Change	88
Analysis of Self as Scholar	89
Analysis of Self as Practitioner	89
Analysis of Self as Project Developer	89
Reflection on Importance of the Work	90
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	90
Conclusion	91
References	92
Appendix: The Project	107

# List of Tables

Table 1. Table Showing Research Questions, Themes, and Interview Data Sources...... 49Table 2. Table Showing Research Questions, Themes, and Document Data Sources ..... 50

#### Section 1: The Problem

#### **The Local Problem**

Students who take Advanced Placement (AP) classes in high school settings find more success in postsecondary settings because of the rigorous curriculums and courses of study (College Board, 2017; Park et al., 2014). Students who take these classes are challenged by the rigor, content, and requirements and are prepared for higher education course work. Additionally, students who take AP classes have a 58% postsecondary graduation rate as compared to a 38% four-year postsecondary graduation rate of students who do not take AP classes (Blankenberger et al., 2017; College Board, 2017; Shaw et al., 2013; Warne et al., 2015). In 2002, AP College Board recognized that there was an underserved population of students, meaning that there was a lack of diversity among AP test takers. Because of these findings, AP developed the Equity and Access Policy to open AP classes to all students. Since that time, many schools have opened AP classes and encouraged students who are underprepared to take advanced level classes (Kolluri, 2018; Warne, 2017).

Although there are studies on equity and access to AP classes related to demographics (Koch et al., 2016), there is limited literature on AP teachers' current use of differentiated strategies that are needed to meet the needs of academically diverse students. Across the nation, the number of students enrolled in AP courses increased by 168% from 2002 to 2016 (College Board, 2017; Judson, 2017b). However, since the Equity and Access policy implementation, student success on passing AP exams has dropped, potentially signifying that the new populations of AP students are not well prepared with the skillsets necessary to succeed in AP classes and on AP exams (Fenty & Allio, 2017; Judson & Hobson, 2015). Even more alarming is the increase in the number of students who score the lowest possible score of 1 on the AP exam, which indicates that students lack the skills necessary to succeed in AP classes (Judson & Hobson, 2015). The change in policy brought a change in the types of students who traditionally take AP classes. At the center of the decrease in pass rates is the lack of rigorous curricula at earlier stages in students' education (Gagnon & Mattingly, 2016). One way AP teachers support their mixed-ability students' needs is differentiated instruction (DI) through content, strategies, and assessments so that all students can learn (Godley et al., 2015; Tomlinson, 2017). Therefore, the problem is that diverse learners in AP classes need the additional support of content, strategies, and assessments that AP teachers can provide through DI.

#### Rationale

To ensure diverse learners in AP classes succeed, it is essential to explore AP teachers' use of instructional strategies to support the students' various abilities. This study is unique in that there is limited research on AP teachers' current use of strategies that are needed to support students who may not have the skillset or background to be successful in AP classes.

This study addressed a local problem by exploring the instructional strategies AP teachers use when teaching diverse learners. At a suburban high school in the southeastern United States, the number of students enrolled in AP courses increased by 376% from 2008 to 2016, yet the AP exam pass rate decreased from 74.6% in 2009 to

35.9% in 2016 (NHS AP Data, 2016; South Carolina Department of Education, 2016). In AP Professional Learning Community (PLC) meetings, AP teachers communicated the lack of critical reading, writing, and thinking skills of their students (AP PLC meeting minutes, October 10, 2017). Minutes from the AP PLC (October 10, 2017) also included discussions of results from AP pre-assessments, indicating students are not prepared to make a passing score of 3, 4, or 5 on the AP exam. The director of secondary education has also expressed concern over the decreasing AP pass rates and is seeking ways to provide support for AP teachers (IB/AP advanced studies meeting, November 10, 2017). The administration asked AP teachers at the three high schools in the district to give common mock exams so that the AP teachers can collaborate, calibrate essay scoring, and have conversations about best practices. With the emphasis on raising AP scores, the superintendent of schools established a district goal to increase the success of AP students who earn a passing score of 3, 4, or 5.

The results of this project study offer the study schools and the district insights into AP teachers' use of DI to support diverse students. The findings from this study provide teachers with an enhanced awareness of the instructional strategies that will promote AP student success. Using the data, district officials and administrators may develop support systems necessary for the expansion of AP teachers' skills in educating AP students. The study promotes social change in that more diverse learners may succeed on the AP exam and as a result may view the AP classroom as a safe, inclusive environment. With the national focus on college readiness, access to and success in AP classes may allow more academically diverse learners to succeed in higher education. The purpose of this study was to explore how AP teachers differentiate instruction through content, process, and assessment to support academically diverse AP students. With the implementation of open enrollment that allows academically diverse students to take AP classes, there is a need for teachers to differentiate the content, instructional strategies, and assessments in such a way that all students in the classroom can succeed. AP teachers continue to plan learning experiences for the most advanced learners, but at the same time, they need to provide support for the learners who may not have the academic skills to be successful (Tomlinson, 2015). In this study, I explored the instructional strategies AP teachers use to reach all learners.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Advanced Placement: The College Board's AP Program launched in 1956 after two studies that supported motivating high achieving students to a greater potential. Today the AP program offers 34 courses with subsequent exams that offer potential college credit to academically diverse students (College Board, 2014).

Advanced Placement exams: Each subject area has an exam that is unique to the content. Exams consist of two portions including a multiple-choice section and an essay or extended response section. The exams are scored on a range of 1-5. Scores of 3, 4, and 5 are considered a passing grade on the AP exam and indicate that the student is college-ready (College Board, 2017).

Advanced Placement success: A minimum score of 3 on an AP exam equates to success on AP exams. AP scores their exams with 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. A score of 5 is the highest AP score (College Board, 2017).

*College Board*: This is a nonprofit organization that promotes a connection between secondary schools and postsecondary education (College Board, 2014).

*Differentiated instruction*: This is researched based model of teaching and instruction helps educators design curriculum, instruction, and assessments to help diverse learners maximize their abilities.

*Diverse learners*: Students with varying needs in relation to content, process, and product (Tomlinson, 2015).

*Equity and Access Policy*: This is a policy created by the College Board and AP in 2002 that promoted the AP Program as an avenue of equity and access for underserved students to challenge them academically and to provide a rigorous curriculum for all students who want to take AP classes (College Board, 2002).

*Open enrollment*: An AP policy where districts expand access to students to participate in AP classes without specific test scores, teacher recommendations, or specific grades in pre-requisite classes (Rowland & Shircliffe, 2016).

*Readiness*: Readiness is the student's current understanding of specified knowledge and skills and with gradual release will grasp new, complex ideas (Tomlinson, 2017).

#### Significance of the Study

This study addressed a local problem by focusing on instructional strategies high school AP teachers use when teaching diverse learners. Because there was an increase in the number of students taking AP classes and a decrease in the overall pass rates on AP exams (College Board, 2017), the results of this study may offer the study school insights into AP teachers' use of DI to support academically diverse students. The findings from this study provide AP teachers with an understanding of the instructional strategies that may foster success for academically diverse AP students. Using the data, district officials and administrators may develop support systems necessary for the expansion of AP teachers' skills in educating AP students. The study promotes social change in that more diverse learners may succeed on the AP exam, which can lead to future opportunities such as attending 2- or 4-year colleges.

#### **Research Questions**

Understanding the instructional strategies AP teachers use, exploring how teachers plan for diverse learners, and examining supports needed by AP teachers to engage all students in AP classes may help teachers of AP classes where there are academically diverse learners. Information from the study could be used to provide AP teachers with the necessary support to teach all learners. Five research questions (RQ1-RQ5) guided this study:

- RQ1: How do high school AP teachers determine their students' ZPD or readiness, interests, and learning profiles?
- RQ2: How do high school AP teachers select their content to support all learners?
- RQ3: What processes or strategies do high school AP teachers use to differentiate instruction?
- RQ4: How do high school AP teachers create classroom environments where students achieve?

• RQ 5: What supports do high school AP teachers perceive they need to implement DI?

#### **Review of the Literature**

#### **The Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was Tomlinson's (2015) differentiation model for instruction that supports teachers in addressing the varied levels, experiences, and abilities of all students in a classroom through instructional strategies designed to reach all learners. Tomlinson's model helps educators design curriculum, instruction, and assessments to help students maximize their abilities (Tomlinson, 2015). Differentiation is about superior performance for all students and how teachers provide opportunities to meet these needs (Tomlinson, 1999). When teachers adjust their teaching for students' diverse abilities to increase student's success and growth, students can achieve (Dixon et al., 2014).

DI is based on differing theories, including Gardner's theory of multiple intelligences and Vygotsky's theory of zone of proximal development or ZPD (Morgan, 2014). Gardner's theory supports the idea that students learn using multiple intelligences that include the following: logical, spatial, musical, visual, kinesthetic, interpersonal, and intrapersonal (Gardner, 1983). Focusing on the premise that all children are not alike in how they learn, Gardner's theory suggests that students can be gifted in areas other than mathematics and language arts. When teachers provide students different educational opportunities through content, process, and products, they differentiate and provide the best instructional practices for the individual students. Likewise, Vygotsky's ZPD is the area in children's development where they can learn, but they must do so under the guidance of a teacher, and when they master the concept, they can learn on their own (Vygotsky, 1978). Vygotsky theorized that children learn best at a level where there is no frustration and as the area where children can succeed if they partner with peers of similar abilities. Children can learn when the concept is difficult and challenging but only when the idea is within their capacity for understanding. Before teachers can incorporate DI into the classroom, they must identify students' areas of development where learning can be maximized (Ortega et al., 2018). When teachers know their students' ZPD, they can scaffold or differentiate content, process, and product to help all learners find academic success.

Tomlinson, an education expert, has written numerous books and research articles on DI. Her original text, *The Differentiated Classroom: Responding to the Needs of all Learners* (1999), is now titled *How to Differentiate Instruction in Academically Diverse Classroom* (2017). Through her research, she has edited and revised her works based on the evolution of the shifting American student and classroom. Tomlinson is at the forefront of providing educators with an understanding of how DI is a framework that best serves all students. Yet, with the development of DI, teachers find it challenging to implement with fidelity and consistency and have overall concerns about their ability to use DI in their lessons (Suprayogi et al., 2017).

The concept of one-size-fits-all in the traditional classroom is the norm of most schools (Wan, 2015); however, it should be educators' responsibility to teach to individual students and not to a whole classroom (Tomlinson, 2015). Students who enter

AP classrooms are diverse in ethnicity, socio-economic status, and intellectual ability; therefore, educators should meet students' diverse learning requirements through content, process, and products (Tomlinson, 2015). Using differentiation, AP teachers can provide multiple approaches for the content that students learn, how students understand the material, and how they show mastery of the skills.

The basis of this literature review was to provide justification that DI is an approach to teaching that supports academically diverse learners. In addition to exploring differentiation in this review, I also explored research regarding the change in College Board's AP program and the changing population of AP students who are more academically diverse. To conduct the review, I used Walden University library search engines including Thoreau, ERIC, Education Research Complete, Taylor and Francis Online, SAGE Journals, and Google Scholar. As I searched, I entered terms including differentiation, differentiated instruction, DI, Advanced Placement, gifted students, heterogeneous grouping, equity and access, and instructional strategies, as well as multiple Boolean combinations including Advanced Placement and differentiation, Advanced Placement and diverse learners, and zone of proximal development among others. I searched for articles published in the past 5 years to gather data to support the need for DI. After reviewing the articles, I gained scholarly insight concerning the following themes: DI and readiness, strategies, and assessment or product; the need for DI; concerns about DI; and the implications for student achievement when teachers understand, implement, and provide DI to maximize the academic potential for diverse learners. However, there is a paucity of literature regarding DI and AP classes.

#### **Description of DI**

Teachers differentiate through content, process, product, and environment (Tomlinson, 1999, 2015, 2017). The *content* refers to the "what" of the instruction, whereas the *process* refers to how the teacher leads students to an understanding of the lesson; the *product* refers to the culminating evidence of the instruction that shows the student mastered the concept or standards of the unit; and the *environment* refers to the classroom safety and teacher relationship with the students (Taylor, 2015; Tomlinson, 2017). For teachers to differentiate, they must know their students' ZPD or readiness level. ZPD emphasizes the significance of teachers understanding the instructional needs of all students. Vygotsky (1978) communicated that "instruction is useful when it moves ahead of development" (p. 212), which leads the students to perform skills and tasks outside their skillset. According to Wass and Golding (2014), if teachers understand the abilities of their students and if teachers create lessons that are difficult for students, then the greatest learning will take place. When teachers create assignments that are beyond a student's ability but which the student can complete with assistance either from teachers or peers, learning is maximized. As teachers teach in the ZPD by providing opportunities for students to complete hard tasks with assistance, students will experience growth and achievement.

ZPD has three interpretations as presented in Eun's (2017) synthesis of Vygotsky's ZPD theory. First, ZPD can be interpreted as the space between what a student is able to do alone and what a student is able to accomplish with support from a peer or instructor. This interpretation supports DI through scaffolding (i.e., structured support that is progressively removed as student abilities increase) as a teaching strategy. Next, ZPD is the space between what students learn from formal instruction and how the students relate this information with world knowledge. This supports DI in that teachers must know their students' interests. Finally, ZPD is defined as knowledge the students learn from social, collaborative efforts. Again, this supports DI in that grouping or collaboration among students is a DI strategy. Smit et al. (2013) acknowledged that adaptive support for DI is only successful if teachers understand what the ZPD level is for their students. In their study, they presented ways that teachers can diagnose their students' ZPD levels or DI readiness by examining work completed by students, reflecting on their lessons, and examining students' written work. This diagnosis can occur during and after lessons through pretests, posttests, questioning, and other formative assessments (Smit et al., 2013; Zulu et al., 2018). Councill and Fiedler (2017) studied learners in a music classroom and found that teachers can determine a student's development level through observation, oral inquiry, and performance assessments. Through the diagnosis of the students' ZPDs, the teacher knows the DI readiness characteristics and can provide content and processes for all students to achieve.

Within the ZDP are strategies and tools that teachers can implement with DI to support student success. Armstrong (2015) conducted a study to ascertain students' experiences with learning when teachers utilized the ZPD approach or determined DI readiness. In this study, the students were introduced to new, in-depth, complex concepts. Yet, through the instructor's emphasis on learner interaction with both the instructor and peers, the students left the class with knowledge and understanding of new ideas. Students realized that the opportunities to collaborate with their peers and to communicate with the instructor during difficult activities or new learnings supported their overall success in the class. Therefore, Vygotsky's emphasis of learner interaction with experts, including peers and instructors, supported the learners' success in the classroom.

#### **DI Strategies**

DI builds on the ZPD, where the goal of differentiation is to determine the student's developmental stage for learning new concepts and skills. With appropriate scaffolding strategies and support, teachers customize learning in a way that best supports the student's ZPDs (Civitillo et al., 2016). During scaffolding, a teacher supports a student with strategies and aids so that the student achieves a learning skill that they cannot achieve without the assistance of a teacher. Through the progression of the learning task, the teacher gradually decreases the support as the student completes the skill independently (Van Driel et al., 2018). Scaffolding is an important aspect of DI, as shown when Gritter et al. (2013) conducted a case study on how an AP history teacher used scaffolding strategies in an AP U.S. history class to promote historical knowledge in students' historical thinking skills and writing skills. In this study, the researchers observed the scaffolding strategies of the teacher and how these supported the academic success of the participants. Findings from the study show the following as scaffolding supports for all students:

- create connections between knowledge,
- metacognition,

- modeling,
- bridging,
- questioning,
- contextualizing, and
- visual cues.

As Vygotsky (1978) intimated, scaffolding occurs when the teacher supports students in achieving what they could not do alone.

Another DI strategy that supports student achievement is cooperative learning. Clapper (2015) defined cooperative learning as "intentional learning activities where learners work together to achieve common learning objectives" (p. 151). During the cooperative learning process, members of the group support and teach other members. Students learn more from each other than from strategies such as whole group lectures. Specific cooperative learning strategies include jigsaw and group investigations. As noted, the teachers must position themselves where they can observe, question, support, and monitor the learning process. Even with cooperative learning, the teacher is still instrumental in the educational process. Clapper concluded that using cooperative learning and ZPD as a tool for instruction is a valuable DI strategy.

Still other DI strategies that supports ZPD are the use of open-ended and complex questioning and collaborative grouping. Open-ended questions create opportunities for students to think critically. Even though complex questioning can lead to cognitive loading or frustration for the students, locating tasks associated with the complex question in the ZPD lead to self-directed authentic learning (Zulu et al., 2018). Similarly,

Helgeson (2017) contended that literature circles are an effective DI strategy because it allows for students to collaborate, interact, and discuss. Within the literature circle, teachers assign readings according to students' interests and abilities. Teachers provide choice in content and assessments. This strategy fosters learning and responsibility in students.

Other researchers have found that using varied DI strategies can be effective for teaching diverse students. Gumpert and McConell (2019) addressed student diverse individual needs by designing varied science content activities that catered to individual students. In their classroom, they included manipulatives, flexible grouping, and tiered assignments. Each activity was tailored for students' specific needs. There were numerous strategies that supported the DI instructional process that equip diverse learners with the tools to complete tasks on their own. Additionally, Al-Subaiei (2017) in a research study on classrooms with mixed-ability students found that teachers should use DI strategies such as grouping, game competition, and dramatization of content. Using varied DI strategies allowed teachers to reach diverse students.

Providing students with choice was another DI strategy that educators used to engage and motivate students in the learning process (De Meester et al., 2020; McClung et al., 2019). Maeng and Bell (2015) studied seven high school science teachers and how they used DI in their classrooms. They observed the teachers using preassessments as a strategy to determine the students' readiness. Throughout the lessons, all of the teachers used formative assessments such as informal questioning, whole class discussions, and classroom response systems to gauge students' understanding. The science teachers also used the strategy of providing authentic contexts to their learning by taking the students to an outside classroom to explore nature. To complete assignments, the teachers gave the students a variety of resources and materials for task completion. Again, the teachers provided choices that were integrated into a learning menu. Through the menu, the students chose their content, process of learning, and product for assessment. The study provided practical strategies that other teachers can use in their classrooms.

DI strategies can be used in all educational courses. Melo et al. (2020) contended that DI strategies could be implemented in physical education classes. They described a secondary physical education class where individual students led warm-up prior to activities. Others were paired with students who needed work on skills. They suggested that teachers create stations so students could select activities from the different stations based on their abilities. Allowing student choice supported the teachers' challenges of reaching all participants.

#### **DI Lesson Planning**

Teachers who differentiate begin by planning lessons that are geared for the most advanced learner, teach from a rigorous, challenging curriculum, and then scaffold for other diverse learners. Lessons are based on the students' readiness, interests, and learning profiles (Tomlinson, 2015, 2017). Teachers differentiate instruction to provide diverse learners with suitable challenging learning opportunities.

A critical component of DI is the teacher's focus on the students as individual learners rather than a focus on strategies or tasks. Specifically, to implement DI, a teacher must understand a student's readiness, interests, and learning profile (Tomlinson, 2015, 2017). Readiness is the point where the student can learn and with gradual release will grasp new, complex ideas (Morgan, 2014; Tomlinson, 2017; Vygotsky, 1978). At the beginning of units of study, teachers use a variety of measures to determine readiness, and then they use formative and summative assessments during the unit (Tomlinson, 2015).

In a study of elementary mathematics teachers, Van Geel et al. (2018) presented DI as a complex teaching skill and that understanding the readiness aspect is critical. From their data, the researchers created a hierarchy of skills that are necessary for DI, and one skill they found to be most important is a teacher's content knowledge. Without indepth content knowledge, teachers cannot provide insight into their students' needs and cannot make correct instructional supportive decisions. Without expert knowledge, teachers do not have the ability to determine their students' ZPD to establish readiness (Van Geel et al., 2018). A highly qualified teacher who is an expert in content will best determine student readiness.

Although readiness is measurable and more easily understood, teachers also plan according to the students' interests. Tomlinson (2015) defined interests as topics or activities that induce curiosity and passion in students. By creating plans and content around students' interests, teachers involve students through curiosity and authentic engagement (Tomlinson, 2017). Yet, students' interests are more difficult to measure and sustain. Students' interests are fluid or ever-changing and can be influenced by the teacher's role, strategies, and self-perception of competence (Colquitt et al., 2017; Tomlinson, 2017). Van Geel et al. (2018) maintained the importance of teachers knowing

both academic and personal aspects of students. To engage students, teachers need to know how to inspire them. Teachers should understand the personal aspects of students, their peer relations, their outside interests, and how to use these interests to motivate them. Fitzgerald (2016) presented several practices to show how teachers become aware of students' backgrounds, interests, and hobbies. These include educational histories, surveys, self-portraits, and journals. To engage students through their interests, Taylor (2015) suggested that educators give students choices in their assessments and content. For example, students are presented with choice boards where they select what they learn and the product for assessment.

Finally, the students' learning profiles guide teachers in their planning of differentiated lessons. According to Tomlinson (2017), students' learning profiles encompass their learning styles, learning intelligences (Gardner, 1983), learning preferences, gender, and culture. Students will vary in their approach to learning and often have more than one preferred means of learning that can be contextualized by the learning objectives chosen by the teacher (Tomlinson, 2017). To maximize the achievement of learners, teachers should know and understand their students' learning styles (Cameron et al., 2015). Students need teachers who are both content experts and pedagogical experts (Swanson et al., 2020). Although readiness, interests, and learning profiles are important for DI, establishing a safe, positive classroom environment is equally important.

A positive learning environment contributes to higher student achievement (Back et al., 2016). Sharma (2015) believed the significance of a safe and positive classroom

and learning setting. Through a study on risk taking in mathematical classes, she determined that classes where teachers create an environment that encouraged learning rather than students correctly answering questions had higher student achievement results. To create a safe environment, the teacher used whole group discussions where key terms were explained and connected to prior learning, small group activities, music, and questioning strategies that included the students creating the question.

Research shows that questioning strategies are important aspects of creating safe learning environments. Luna et al. (2018) purported that questioning strategies used by teachers during the process of learning are an essential aspect of building students' feelings and safety in a classroom environment. Wait time, open-ended questioning, and higher-order questions are questioning techniques that build confidence in students. Accordingly, they suggested that creating classroom procedures is another important part of establishing safe classrooms where students feel they can take chances and learn. Providing collaborative spaces, asking for student input on establishing rules, creating project-based learning opportunities, and constant teacher monitoring are all important in creating an environment for students to achieve. Furthermore, interpersonal relationships are fundamental to learning and help establish positive learning environments (Royston, 2017). These relationships are developed through repeated encounters where classroom routines and procedures are firmly in place. Students know the expectations and requirements in the classroom. Royston continued that with the challenges of teachers who have diverse students in their classroom, it is important to understand the needs of

all students. Through findings from a survey, Royston found that students want the following from their teachers:

- trust,
- humor,
- enthusiasm,
- personal interest,
- high standards, and
- listening skills.

These qualities promoted positive learning environments in classrooms where students felt safe and were willing to take chances with their learning.

### DI and AP

In 2003, the number of high school graduates who took AP courses was 18.9%, and this increased to 33.2% in 2013 (College Board, 2014). Pass rates vary by state, and according to the South Carolina Department of Education, from 2009 to 2016, the AP exam percentage pass rates by schools have decreased (South Carolina Department of Education, 2016). In Florida, a school system implemented open enrollment for students willing to take AP classes. Rowland and Shircliffe (2016) contended that when school districts open their AP classrooms to students who have not been academically equipped to succeed in AP, there needs to be support systems in place to prepare them.

With an increase in the number of AP students, school systems are seeing a decline in AP pass rates. Judson and Hobson's (2015) longitudinal study on national AP scores and trends showed rapid growth in the number of AP test takers yet pass rates have

decreased significantly. Students who earn a passing score of 3, 4, or 5 on an AP exam have the potential to earn college credit. From their study, they indicated that the percent of students scoring a 3, 4, or 5 decreased from 65.5% in 1992 to 59.2% in 2012. Furthermore, they also concluded that students who received a score of 1, the lowest score possible on an AP exam, increased significantly from 1992 to 2002 (Judson & Hobson, 2015). Judson (2017b) also maintained there was an upward trend in the number of academically diverse students opting to take AP classes while their AP success rate was poor. While advocating for increasing student access to AP, College Board (2014) recognized that there are still challenges for students with diverse academic abilities.

The College Board's AP Program launched in 1956 after two studies that supported motivating high achieving students to a greater potential. Today the AP program offers 34 courses with subsequent exams that offer potential college credit (College Board, 2014). Students must score 3, 4, or 5 to earn corresponding or equivalent college credit. The credit is awarded by the colleges and universities and not by College Board. Although AP was first created for only high-achieving students, this transformed in 2002 with College Board AP's Access and Equity policy. AP was originally designed for elite learners, but a change occurred with the new policy, and more students with diverse academic abilities now take AP classes (Muijs & Reynolds, 2015; Warne, 2017; Warne et al., 2015).

With the implementation of standards-based learning and 21<sup>st</sup> century skills that students need to be successful in a global world, many AP classrooms are full of diverse learners that range from students who struggle academically to students who are labeled as gifted and talented (Warne, 2017; Warne et al., 2015). Starr (2017) explained the importance of opening AP classes to provide equity for all students in high schools. He argued that it is the school leaders' responsibility to provide opportunities to students to achieve academically who may not have skills to be successful in a rigorous AP class. One way to address the needs of diverse learners is through DI both throughout the school district and in the classroom (Tomlinson, 2015).

There are practices and dispositions that school systems need to support DI. Frey and Fisher (2017) identified relationships, responsiveness, communication, and sustainability as four systematic dispositions that should be present for DI to be successful. High quality teacher relationships can advance learner success with two years' growth (Frey & Fisher, 2017). Likewise, when teachers were responsive to learner needs and can adjust instruction and create a safe environment for diverse learners, then DI can be supported. It was also important to communicate with parents who can provide insights that teachers need to implement DI. Finally, DI should be sustainable. For DI to become a core aspect of instruction in a school, administration should look to the systems within to sustain relationships, responsiveness, communication, and sustainability.

When determining the need for DI, it is also important to look at the diverse learners in classroom settings. Fenty and Allio (2017) recognized that many AP students do not have the skills necessary for the rigor of AP. They determined that more research is needed to investigate how teachers' use of instructional strategies influence student success in the AP classroom and on the AP exam. AP teachers should be intentional in their instructional strategies and when planning need to be aware of students' abilities and interests to maximize learning (Thomas & Green, 2015).

In a research study a school system opened AP English classrooms to diverse learners. Godley et al. (2015) described how a school in an urban area detracked its AP English and Composition classes and intentionally opened them to students who had never been in an advanced or honors class. Understandably these students were diverse in their academic levels of learning. Through the study, they described how the AP teacher used DI strategies to include scaffolding, graphic organizers, and student interest when planning and teaching the class. Not only did these strategies support lower-level students, but they also helped academically advanced students make greater academic gains (Godley et al., 2015). Likewise, Bavis (2016) described how a diverse high school detracked and opened its freshman courses in English, biology, and social studies to include more rigor to enable more students to be prepared for AP courses during their junior and senior years. With detracking, the local school district experienced a rise in the number of students enrolling in AP classes. Through detracking and opening AP classrooms to more students, there also came a need for more supports for both students and teachers.

#### **Positive Effects of DI Strategies**

The literature is beginning to show the positive effects of teachers implementing DI strategies in their classrooms. Bal (2016), in a mixed-methods study on DI, determined the academic effects of differentiated learning on algebra students. Students in the experimental group were taught using DI strategies, while the control group was

taught in a traditional manner. According to the study, sixth graders in the experimental group showed a significant increase in algebra success over the control group. This study provided data to support that DI in classrooms improved student achievement. Valiandes (2015) recommended that implementation of DI also led to academic success for students in mixed-ability classrooms. Through a study of 24 teachers, Valiandes supported the use of differentiation. While the teachers were skeptical of the effects of differentiation, their students showed positive academic growth after their teachers provided instruction through differentiation. Likewise, Prast et al. (2018) studied three cohorts of teachers over a 3-year time span and concluded that teachers who use DI increase the achievement of both low level and high levels learners.

Further research continued to show the positive effects of DI in classroom achievement. Ocampo (2018) investigated the effectiveness of DI in the reading achievement of high school students. Through quasi-experimental research, he wanted to determine if there is a significant difference in reading comprehension between two experimental groups. One group had conventional reading instruction while the other group had reading instruction with an emphasis on DI. Ocampo gathered data using pretest and post-test results. The results showed that DI was more effective than whole class or conventional instruction because the experimental group had higher test scores than the students in the conventional group. The statistical analysis of the data showed a significant difference between pre-test and post-test results, therefore showing DI as a method for teachers to use to improve student achievement. Another study that supported DI and student achievement was Firmender et al. (2013) findings on the influence of DI on elementary students who struggled with reading fluency and comprehension. After DI, students showed positive gains in their reading performance. While Pablico et al. (2017) studied the effect of DI on the achievement of high school science students, their findings indicated that DI had no significant effect on student success on an end-of-course (EOC) exam. Still, the students who were in the DI group outscored the students in the non-DI group on their EOC with 76.9% of students scoring Good or Excellent compared to the 67.6% of the non-DI group. Senturk and Sari (2018) concluded that DI improved the engagement of science and technology students. Through DI strategies, students improved scientific process skills and consequently improved their science literacy levels. Dosch and Zidon (2014) compared two classroom settings in which the course and instructor were the same. Yet, in one classroom the instructor implemented DI strategies, while in the second classroom, the instructor did not use DI strategies. Findings from the study show that overall, the classroom with DI significantly outperformed the classroom without DI. Moreover, the students in the DI classroom felt that DI supported their learning achievements.

Overall, based on the literature review, students who were in classrooms where teachers implement DI show growth, high engagement, and achievement. DI is beneficial to students in all courses and with all levels of learning (Tomlinson, 2017).

#### **Teacher Concerns About DI**

While AP teachers understand the significance of DI, many do not include DI practices in their classrooms because of the challenges associated with the implementation (Birnie, 2015; Wan, 2015). Implementing DI is based on teachers' beliefs
in their own ability to educate others and their efficacy in their content knowledge (Wan, 2015). To differentiate, teachers need to have confidence in their teaching abilities and in their subject area. However, many claim they do not have the time, resources, or support to maintain DI (Suprayogi et al., 2017). They believe that it is a good practice, and many try to differentiate, but there are too many challenges to support it consistently in the classroom (Birnie, 2015). While some view DI as a fad, this approach has been around since the one-room schoolhouse where teachers had all students and all abilities in one room and subsequently had to teach students in varying grades and levels (Wan, 2015). While differentiation is not a new idea, it is an impetus to the success of all students. Another concern is that educators view DI as constructing lesson plans for individual students (Birnie, 2015; Tomlinson, 2017). Thus, if teachers had 30 students in a classroom, they would create thirty different plans. Yet, this is not the case. DI can include strategies such as literature circles (Helgeson, 2017), study guides (Conderman & Hedin, 2017), centers, small groups, contract learning, digital use, and others (Tomlinson, 2015).

Teachers need time and careful planning to succeed in implementing differentiation strategies. Suprayogi et al. (2017) examined variables that could be challenging to DI, such as time to prepare DI lessons, class size, and teacher knowledge of DI. Teachers who are successful at DI, plan units, have classroom routines and procedures in place, and are organized (Morgan, 2014). Additionally, high teacher efficacy or self-belief has been linked to the successful implementation of DI (Suprayogi et al., 2017). When teachers are experts in their content knowledge, then they include differentiated strategies. Ekstam et al. (2017) recognized that teachers who have high efficacy in their teaching abilities use DI strategies more frequently. Their study showed that teachers who have high efficacy beliefs about their teaching ability have more capability to implement teaching tasks that address diverse learners. These teachers dedicate more time into trying new teaching strategies and providing individual support for students. Thus, a teacher's efficacy beliefs on their content knowledge, pedagogy, and overall teaching ability are important when considering DI.

Nonetheless, the most prominent teacher concern is that they do not have the knowledge of how to include DI strategies in their lessons. Mills et al. (2014) noted that many teachers do not know how to apply DI in their classrooms. In their study of a secondary school in Queensland, Australia, the principal and various teachers had different ideas of what differentiation looked like in practice. Mills et al. concluded that schools need to provide more support for teachers to understand and practice differentiation. With this concern comes the need for professional development opportunities that are sustainable and implemented with fidelity (Gaitas & Martins, 2016). Professional development on DI is a critical aspect of teacher's fidelity of implementation.

#### Implications

The study site has numerous concerns surrounding the participation and success of AP students. Enrollment and participation in AP classes have shown to be an indicator of college readiness and college success after high school. I sought to explore the instructional strategies that AP teachers use when they are teaching AP classes with mixed ability students. The findings from this study resulted in determining the necessity for teacher professional development in meeting the needs of diverse learners in classes that were historically created for advanced learners. Using the study's findings, I created a professional development for my project study to assist the district.

Participation in sustained, meaningful professional development that will inform educators on the best instructional strategies may increase the number of students who score 3, 4, or 5 on AP exams, showing mastery of the content. Increased success on AP exams and increased participation in AP classes by diverse learners may create opportunities for positive social change in that more underserved students will be provided opportunities to succeed in postsecondary environments.

#### Summary

Providing support for diverse learners in AP classes offers many opportunities for students. Students who have not been on a college preparatory or honors track in high school will benefit from instructional DI support from teachers.

To better understand how to provide support for teachers and students, I sought to examine the instructional strategies AP teachers use when there are diverse learners in their classroom. This study provided findings and an implementable project on the use of DI that AP teachers might use to support the success of both advanced students and students who need more support.

#### Section 2: The Methodology

## **Qualitative Research Design and Approach**

The purpose of this study was to explore the instructional strategies that AP teachers use to ensure the success of their diverse learners. The research questions that guided this exploration were as follows:

- RQ1: How do high school AP teachers determine their students' ZPD or readiness, interests, and learning profiles?
- RQ2: How do high school AP teachers select their content to support all learners?
- RQ3: What processes or strategies do high school AP teachers use to differentiate instruction?
- RQ4: How do high school AP teachers create classroom environments where students achieve?
- RQ 5: What supports do high school AP teachers perceive they need to implement DI?

To address these questions, I used a qualitative case study methodology to gain insight into and to understand the participants' experiences as AP teachers who have diverse learners in their classrooms. According to Creswell (2012), a qualitative researcher "explores a problem and develops a detailed understanding of a phenomenon" (p.16). Yin (2009) indicated that a case study focuses on significant and meaningful reallife situations. In a qualitative case study, researchers interact with participants, observe behaviors, and obtain specific information about the circumstances and context of the participants' or teachers' work (Yin, 2014).

By exploring and examining the instructional strategies AP teachers use to teach diverse learners, I gained a greater understanding of AP teachers' needs and supports to ensure all students' success. An exploratory case study approach is a method of qualitative research that "endeavors to discover meaning, to investigate process and to gain insight into an in-depth understanding of an individual group or situation" (Lodico et al., 2010, p. 269). In this qualitative case study, the targeted number of participants was seven to nine AP teachers of varying years of experience and content subject expertise in two schools in one school district. With a case study, the researcher identifies the problem, and in this study, the problem is that diverse learners in AP classes need additional support of content, strategies, and assessments that AP teachers can provide through DI. Exploring the instructional strategies AP teachers use provided descriptions and themes to capture AP teachers' use of DI.

Although I chose to use the exploratory case study design, I could have used other qualitative research approaches, such as ethnography, grounded theory, phenomenology, or narrative. Ethnographic research seeks to understand the reality of a culture and to describe the group in its natural setting. For this type of study, the researcher recognizes the importance of setting and the role that it plays (Lodico et al., 2010). The purpose of ethnographic research is to define a culture and requires prolonged engagement in the field with multiple data collection instances and methods. Another type of qualitative research is grounded theory, where the researcher collects data over time to construct

theories grounded in the data. The researcher attempts to generalize the findings to relate to other settings of the same type (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). Still another approach to a qualitative study is the phenomenological approach, which pertains to research that is concerned with understanding a phenomenon from the points of view of the subjects. Phenomenological research centers on the participants' experiences and how they view different experiences (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). This approach also requires prolonged engagement and multiple instances of data collection. An additional research design is the narrative analysis, in which researchers collect and narrate stories about their participants. In educational research, narratives may include experiences in the classrooms and schools (Creswell, 2012). However, the purpose of my research was neither to study a culture, develop a theory, understand points of view, nor to narrate an experience, so these methods would not work.

Finally, I chose not to use quantitative research methodology because I am not looking for trends or explanations (see Creswell, 2012). Instead, I chose a qualitative case study as my method because I sought to explore and obtain a deeper understanding of teaching strategies that AP teachers use with diverse learners. A qualitative case study was the best methodology because this method permits researchers to work directly with research participants and obtain direct information and experiences about the contexts of teachers' work (Yin, 2014). Therefore, an exploratory case study using interviews with open-ended questions and data from document reviews to explore the DI strategies AP teachers use was a methodology appropriate to accomplish the study's purpose. The setting for the exploratory case study was a suburban school district located near a large city in a southeastern state. During the 2016-2017 school year, the district served approximately 18,000 students in 17 elementary schools (Grades PreK-5), five middle schools (Grades 6-8), three high schools (Grades 9-12), and one technology school. The school district has a one-to-one technology program, meaning that all students in the district have access to an HP computer to use at school and at home. The percentage of students in the school district enrolled in AP and International Baccalaureate (IB) classes is 26.2%. Of these students, 45.8% have successfully passed the AP or IB course exams. All teachers who are instructors in the AP and IB courses are sent to AP and IB training by the district. The setting of the case study is a district case of two high schools in the district.

#### **Participants**

The participants for the research study were selected because they are AP teachers from the two high schools at the local study site. Lodico et al. (2010) suggested that the participants in a qualitative study should be chosen based on their knowledge of the emphasis of the research study. Because of the district's AP open enrollment policy, participants for the study teach students in the AP classrooms who are diverse in their abilities. The focus of this study was to explore the instructional strategies that AP teachers used to ensure the success of their diverse learners. Merriam (2009) described purposeful sampling as what the researcher desires to "discover, understand, and gain insight" on in a study (p. 77). Through purposeful sampling, I invited AP teachers who teach one of the following courses: AP English Language, AP English Literature, AP European History, AP U.S. History, AP Human Geography, AP Government, AP Macro, AP Calculus, AP Statistics, AP Chemistry, AP Biology, and AP Art. Using a homogeneous sampling of AP teachers who were information-rich because of their AP teaching experiences provided depth and breadth of knowledge from multiple perspectives (Lodico et al., 2010).

## **Number of Participants**

The number of participants varies among qualitative studies (Creswell, 2012). However, Creswell provided guidelines for determining the sample size and cautioned against using too many participants because many cases is not manageable and may become superficial. Merriam (2009) suggested that purposeful sampling should be conducted before the data collection begins. Merriam further recommended that the number of participants selected should be sufficient to provide answers to the purpose of the study. For this project study, all AP teachers at the study sites were invited to volunteer to participate in the study. However, a range of seven to nine was necessary for the research study. The final sample size included seven participants.

## **Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants**

After approval from the Walden Institutional Review Board (IRB) and with authorization granted through a signed letter of cooperation from the district of the school study sites, I worked with the gatekeeper to gain access to the participants. Once the study site granted permission to gain access to the participants, I composed an email to all the AP teachers at the schools selected to invite them to participate in the study on a voluntary basis. The email described the study and asked the teachers to respond if they wanted to participate. For teachers who agreed to participate, I met with them individually to give a more detailed overview. During this meeting, I gave them a letter of consent so that I could obtain their signatures for participation, which they returned within 24 hours of the meeting. The consent letter consisted of the following:

- a description of the research study detailing the activities and amount of time for participation,
- details of any risks that may be involved,
- an explanation of the voluntary aspect of the study,
- an explanation that if the participant agreed to participate, then they may leave the study at any time,
- an explanation of how I would ensure the confidentiality of the participant, and
- a description of the steps that I took to maintain confidentiality.

Interviews took place after school hours at the study sites and via phone. I asked the principals for permission to use the schools' conference rooms or another quiet place for interviews. However, during the time of interviews, the school district closed because of COVID-19. With permission from IRB, I collected data from four of the participants via phone to replace face-to-face contact.

Building relationships with participants is important and the interviewer "must be reassuring and supportive" (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007, p. 103). The study site was in the district where I teach. I have taught in the district of the study site for 10 years, so the teachers that I interviewed may have known me. However, I am not in a supervisory

position, and I do not hold a position of authority over any of the AP teachers who were asked or who agreed to take part in the study. Because I used interviews to gather data, I was reassuring and supportive. Bogdan and Biklen (2007) stated that "good interviews are those in which the subjects are at ease and talk freely about their points of view" (p. 104).

Establishing ethical protection of the participants is of greatest importance (Creswell, 2012). To protect the participants, I adhered to the Walden IRB's 40 ethical standards. Participants were assured of their privacy and anonymity, as established in the informed consent letter. I articulated to the participants that their involvement was voluntary and would not affect their position at the school. If they agreed to participate, their confidentiality was assured as their names and identities were kept confidential and will be referenced as an assigned letter, such as Teacher A, Teacher B, or Teacher C. Transcriptions from the interviews will be kept in password-protected computer files and stored for 5 years beyond completion of the study at my residence. Any hard copies of data will be converted into electronic forms and stored in a computer password-protected file. Electronic files will be deleted from my computer. Data that are collected on paper will be destroyed.

#### **Data Collection**

In this study, I explored the instructional strategies that AP teachers use to provide support to diverse learners in AP classes. I used interviews and document reviews of PLC notes to gather data. After obtaining IRB approval (Approval no. 02-05-20-0389743), I submitted a letter of cooperation to my superintendent of schools. After approval from my district, I then sent an email to the principals at each school asking for a list of AP teachers that I could contact for interviews. Once the principals shared AP teachers' names, I sent individual emails to 19 AP teachers with a comprehensive explanation of the voluntary project inviting them to participate in an interview. Seven AP teachers consented to participate in the study through the interview process.

## Interviews

The focus of the data collection for this study was through interviews with AP teachers. Creswell (2012) identifies interviewing as a popular method of gathering data in qualitative research. This happens during the time when participants answer open-ended questions while the researcher records the answers through handwritten notes or audio recordings, and then analyzes the data for themes. Open-ended questions create opportunities for the participants to self-report personal experiences of teaching diverse learners in AP classes. There was an interview protocol that included semi-structured, open-ended questions that were created by the researcher and aligned with the problem statement, literature review, conceptual framework, and research questions. While Creswell described one-on-one interviews as ones that take the most time, this was the best approach for my study. The one-on-one interviews with the participants who agreed to be a part of the research were used to gather descriptive data so that I explored how the AP teachers explain their DI strategies. Lodico et al. (2010) suggested using the following protocols to facilitate a good interview that is rich in descriptive information:

- reintroduce myself and the general topic of the interview,
- read an excerpt which explains the purpose of the study,

- ensure the participant knows that the interview will last between 30 and 60 minutes,
- remind the participant of the confidentiality and anonymity of his or her responses,
- be a good listener and nonjudgmental in reactions to participants' responses,
- remind the participant of the consent agreement, and
- use effective probes to follow up on responses to questions.

I recorded the interviews, but I only used an audio recorder if the participant agreed to it as indicated on the consent form. If the participant was uncomfortable with audio recordings, then I took extensive notes. All the interviews occurred in an area that ensured privacy and at a convenient time for the participants. Interviews took place at the study sites either before or after school hours, or via a phone interview. Time for the interviews ranged between 30 and 60 minutes.

## **Document Review**

The second source of data was a document review of AP PLC Canvas files. Merriam (2009) describes documents as official records, letters, meeting notes, memos, among others. While Merriam suggests that the use of documents in qualitative research is underused, it is also important to know the limitations associated with the data. Yet, data "found in documents can be used in the same manner as data from interviews" (p. 155). I acquired permission from the study site to have access to the documents. In the letter of agreement with the district, I included a paragraph asking permission for access to PLC meeting notes and files at the study sites. The data acquired through the documents are also kept in computer password-protected files to be stored at my residence for 5 years beyond the completion of the study.

## **Sufficiency of Data Collection**

Keeping track of data was an ongoing process throughout the study. A primary source of my data was interviews. Merriam (2009) suggested creating a system for organizing and managing data for the interview data by coding. Coding is a process where the researcher assigns an identifying term, word, color, number, or letter to different aspects of the data so that it is easily identified. During the interview process, I assigned letters to each interview participant. After each interview, I transcribed the audio recordings and made comments and notes. Still, another system of tracking data involved a research journal where the researcher keeps notes and observations. During and after the transcription process, I kept a research journal of my reflections and thoughts. Finally, Merriam suggested that the researcher transcribe his or her own recorded interviews. Through the transcriptions, I captured observations and thoughts in comments and margin notes. My system of organizing data and emerging understandings included developing a priori codes based on the conceptual framework for each interview, keeping a journal of my thoughts and reflections of each interview, and transcribing my interviews instead of hiring a third party to do so. Gibson and Brown (2009) described a priori codes as common categories that derive from one's research interests and form a basic outline for the exploration of the data.

Accessing the participants required a systematic process, and I completed the following:

- obtained authorization to proceed with the research from Walden IRB,
- obtained permission from the study site and school district,
- obtained permission from the gatekeeper of the study site to obtain the names and emails of AP teachers at the school,
- emailed the AP teachers with a comprehensive explanation of the voluntary project, inviting them to a meeting where I provided a summary with assurances of confidentiality.

The second source of data was a document review of AP PLC Canvas files and notes. To gain access to the PLC meeting files and notes, I completed the following:

- acquired permission from the school district, and
- obtained permission from the principal of the study site.

Just as I described a plan to develop a system of managing the interview data, I also used the same system for the document review. I used a system of keeping track of data and developing understandings that included developing a priori codes based on the conceptual framework for each document, keeping a journal of my thoughts, and reviewing the documents multiple times looking for categories and themes. Available AP PLC meeting notes were organized by AP course, and the data will be password protected in an electronic file stored on my computer. I organized by a priori codes based on my DI constructs of process or strategies, content, product, readiness, and environment.

## **Role of the Researcher**

My role as the researcher was to design, apply, and report the research findings. I have been a teacher in the district where I conducted the study for the past ten years. The teachers at the schools where I conducted the research know me because we have attended professional development opportunities and meetings. We have worked together on creating curriculum guides, writing pacing guides for English classes, and choosing textbooks, among others. However, I am not in a supervisory position and do not hold authority over the teachers who were invited to participate in the study. The participants were volunteers and were asked to agree to participate and then sign the consent form. I followed Lodico et al. (2010) and Creswell's (2012) suggestions for interview protocols. Most importantly, procedures and protocols were in place to safeguard the participants.

I kept a reflective journal to address any bias I may have had. Bogdan and Biklen (2007) determined that qualitative researchers "study the subjective states of their subjects" (p. 37). The qualitative researcher spends copious amounts of time collecting and reviewing data. During this time, the researcher should confront his or her own biases. Bogdan and Biklen also suggested that the qualitative researcher should keep detailed notes and comments on these biases. To further check any biases I may have had, I asked the participants in the study to do member checking of their data. Merriam (2009) proposed that member checking is a means of ruling out the possibility of misinterpretations and identifying the researcher's biases. Member checking is a two-phased process. One step of the process is a participant review of the transcriptions. However, before I asked participants to do this, I checked the transcriptions against the

audiotapes. During the research process, this step is usually omitted because it is my responsibility to verify the transcriptions against the audio version. However, the second step of asking the participants to review the draft findings and to check my interpretations of the findings for the accurateness of the participant's data and for the viability of the findings in the setting was vital. The second step was necessary as I interpreted what the participants said in the context of the study. During this step, each participant was given an opportunity to discuss the data with me. None of the participants expressed concerns or indicated that the data were not accurate.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data analyses in qualitative research are inductive processes, and the researcher must organize and prepare the data. All data from the interviews were organized by participant in a case study database, and data from document reviews were organized by AP PLC subjects (Merriam, 2009). Next, data from interviews and document reviews were transcribed into Microsoft Word documents that were password-protected on my computer. After organizing, I read through the data numerous times to get an overall understanding of the data collected. After exhaustively reading and rereading and sorting, I first organized by a priori codes guided by the constructs in the conceptual framework. The constructs included the following: DI, process, content, product, readiness, and environment. I then used open coding to break the data into segments. Next, I examined and compared the segments for similarities and differences. Then, I combined the codes using axial coding to develop themes. After the data were analyzed, I presented each participant with a draft of the research findings to check my interpretations of their own data and for the validity of the results. I gave each participant an opportunity to discuss the results with me, and the participants confirmed my findings as presented to them.

#### **Analysis of Interviews**

Lodico et al. (2010) recommend that qualitative researchers use 30 to 40 codes. I wrote detailed narratives, including quotes from participants to provide detailed descriptions of the themes that provide information for my exploratory case study. I looked for quotes that are relevant to the research questions. I then created a Microsoft Excel workbook for the interviews and entered the quote segments. Next, I created Microsoft Excel worksheets for each participant, and as I entered the quotes into the worksheet, I began to assign codes. It was important that I got a "general sense of the data" (Creswell, 2012, p. 243) so that I got an overview. Therefore, I read the transcripts multiple times from the interviews to arrive at a complete understanding of the participants' responses that were applicable to the research and research questions. To keep track of the participants, I made notes about potential ideas to explore further. Next, I cut and pasted participant quotes that were specific to the research questions and constructs that included: DI, process, content, product, readiness, and environment. I then sorted the potential codes into groups as they supported and responded to the research questions. I continued to combine codes based on similarities, differences, and research questions until no new codes developed. Based on the codes, I began building themes. According to Merriam (2009), themes should "be responsive to the purpose of the research" (185). As I read through the data, I identified possible themes to describe the concepts as they developed from the data. I reviewed, reread, reflected, and revisited

notes and transcriptions from the interview data until no new themes appeared. I continued the process with the document review.

## **Analysis of Documents**

For the analysis of documents, I used the same process that I used for analyzing the interview transcriptions and data. As I read through the documents, I kept a journal of my thoughts and processes. I highlighted text segments from the documents that related to the research questions to mine for data (Merriam, 2009). I copied and pasted the text segments into a Microsoft Excel Workbook as they related to the research questions and constructs. I created a separate worksheet for each AP PLC document as they related to AP specific subjects. I then sorted the potential codes into groups. I continued to combine codes based on similarities, differences, and research questions until no new codes developed. Based on the codes, I built themes from the PLC document review.

## **Evidence of Quality to Assure Accuracy and Credibility of Findings**

To ensure I presented an objective, credible truth to my findings, I included three approaches. First, I triangulated data from interviews and the document review of the AP PLC Canvas files and notes. Merriam (2009) describes triangulation as using various sources of data to compare and review data gathered at different times or from people with contrasting perspectives. In my study, I interviewed different AP teachers who were bound by the same study site and the AP course designation; yet they held different perspectives because of their different content areas. A second strategy I used was member checking. Merriam described member checking to "solicit feedback on [the] emerging findings from some of the people that [were] interviewed" (p. 217). Through this process, I validated the accurateness of the interview transcriptions. After the data were analyzed, I presented each participant with a draft of the research findings to check my interpretations of their own data and for the validity of the results in the setting. I gave each participant an opportunity to discuss the results with me.

No discrepant cases emerged in the data analysis. If discrepancies had emerged through the datasets, I would have explored the datasets to discover possible explanations or reasons for the discrepancies. I would have contacted participants to resolve discrepancies, adjusted the data accordingly, and reported discrepant cases.

Finally, I also used a peer reviewer. I invited a colleague who serves as a second committee doctoral chair for another institution to review all the data to check my themes and findings through a peer review process. This colleague signed a confidentiality agreement before reviewing the data. These approaches: triangulation, member checking, and peer review ensured that the data was credible and trustworthy.

In summary, through an exploratory case study I sought to explore how AP teachers used DI strategies in their classrooms. Through interviews of AP teachers and a document review of AP PLC Canvas course documents, I triangulated the data to provide a rich, detailed, narrative depiction. I used member checking and a peer reviewer to establish validity, trustworthiness, and credibility to ensure I was objective in reporting my findings.

## Transferability

Transferability is the "degree of similarity between the research site and other sites as judged by the reader" (Lodico et al., p. 275). Therefore, transferability is when

readers decide how the research relates to their communities and situations. Merriam (2009) stated that a qualitative researcher has an "obligation to provide enough detailed description of the study's context to enable readers to compare the 'fit' with their situations" (p. 226). I provided a thorough, detailed, and comprehensive description of the setting so that readers will find transferability. Readers with similar settings may make comparisons with their own situations. Another way to provide transferability is through the potential findings. To support the validity and trustworthiness of the findings, I included quotes from the interviews of AP teachers to provide evidence and support. Additionally, quotes and data mined from PLC documents further provided evidence so that readers may transfer the findings to their similar contexts.

#### **Discrepant Cases**

After I analyzed the data, I gave each participant a draft of the research findings to check my interpretations of the data and ensure the results' validity. I gave each participant a chance to discuss the results with me to check for discrepancies. However, no discrepancies occurred in the data analysis. Although, if discrepancies had emerged through the datasets, I would have explored the datasets to discover possible explanations or reasons for the discrepancies. I would have communicated with participants to resolve discrepancies, adjusted the data, and reported discrepant cases. However, there were no discrepant cases in the study.

### **Data Analysis Results**

Through this study, I explored the instructional strategies that AP teachers use to ensure their diverse learners' success in AP classes and on AP exams through interviews and document reviews of PLC notes and files. After IRB approval, I submitted a letter of cooperation to my district through my superintendent of schools. After the letter was approved and electronically signed, I then sent an email to the principals at each school asking for a list of AP teachers who I could contact for potential participation in the study. Once the principals shared AP teachers' names, I sent individual emails to 19 AP teachers with a comprehensive explanation of the voluntary project inviting them to individual meetings where I provided a summary of the study with assurances of confidentiality. Invitations included the consent form as an attachment. Seven AP teachers consented to participate in the study.

After receiving electronic consent from seven participants, I set up face-to-face interviews with three participants based on times and dates that were convenient for them. The other four interviews were conducted through telephone interviews after I received electronic consent from them. On March 16, my state closed schools due to Covid-19. With permission from IRB, I held the remaining four interviews via phone, and I scheduled the phone interviews that were based on times and dates convenient for each participant. The interviews took 30-45 minutes to complete. All interviews began with a reassertion of the confidentiality agreement detailed in the consent form that each participant received. The participants all agreed to be audio recorded and then transcribed. After each interview, I told each participant that I would send them a transcription of the interview so that they could check it for accuracy. I also emailed the participants a summary of my findings so that they could provide member checks for the conclusions.

After I interviewed the participants, I immediately transcribed the recorded audio verbatim within two days of the interview. I copied and saved each audio transcription on my computer in a password-protected file. All participants were assured that their names and identities would be kept confidential and would be referenced as an assigned letter such as Teacher A, Teacher B, or Teacher C.

For the transcript review, I began reading through each interview transcript. As I read, I made notes of my initial thoughts and reflections in the margins of each transcript and kept a journal of my thoughts. Once I read through the transcripts multiple times and became familiar with the data, I used a priori coding based on the conceptual framework's constructs. Gibson and Brown (2009) described a priori codes as common categories that derive from one's research interests and form a basic outline for the exploration of the data. Following a priori coding step, I used open coding to discover emerging themes. Open coding involved carefully rereading the data, breaking the data into segments, and examining and comparing the segments for similarities and differences. I then identified all the segments that were related to the research questions. The process of open coding helped me to label segments of data that contained common phrases or sentences from each interview for each participant. Once I attached labels to the open codes, I began sorting the open codes to develop the axial codes. The axial coding process helped me to group the open codes or labels based on their relationship to the research questions. I then analyzed the data using axial coding to generate themes. Eight themes emerged from the interview data, and they included the following:

• use of assessments to inform instruction,

- knowledge of students,
- teacher use of College Board AP resources,
- importance of critical thinking, reading, and writing,
- building relationships,
- student-centered learning,
- differing thoughts of differentiation, and
- the need for collaboration and time.

For the analysis of documents, I used the same process that I used for analyzing the interview transcriptions and data. As I read through the documents, I kept a journal of my thoughts and reflections, and processes. After I read the documents multiple times, I used a prior coding based on the framework's constructs. I highlighted text segments from the documents related to the research questions to mine for data (Merriam, 2009). Next, I applied open coding by examining the segments and comparing the data segments for similarities and differences. Once I attached labels to the open codes, I began sorting the labels to develop the axial codes. The axial coding process helped me to group the open codes or labels based on their relationship to the research questions, and I repeated this step until no new themes emerged. Based on the codes, I constructed themes from the PLC document review. The themes I discovered from my PLC document review data were as follows:

- use of assessments to inform instruction,
- knowledge of students,
- teacher use of College Board AP resources,

- importance of critical thinking, reading, and writing, and
- student-centered learning.

Finally, I used a peer reviewer to discuss the analysis of both data sets. A colleague who serves as a second committee doctoral chair for another institution reviewed the data to check my themes and findings through a peer review process. The peer reviewer and I met and discussed the themes and findings, and the reviewer agreed with my analysis.

The results of this study provided insights into the five research questions and presented the following themes as they pertain to each research question and data source. The research questions, themes, and interview data source are presented in Table 1 and the research questions, themes, and document data source are presented in Table 2.

## Table 1

Research questions	Themes	Data source
RQ1		
How do high school teachers determine their students' ZPD or readiness, interests,	Use of assessments to inform instruction	Interviews
and learning styles?	Knowledge of students	
RQ2 How do high school AP teachers select their content to support all learners?	Teacher use of AP resources	Interviews
	Importance of critical	
	skills	

Table Showing Research Questions, Themes, and Interview Data Sources

RQ3 What processes or strategies do high school AP teachers use to differentiate instruction?	Student-centered learning	Interviews
RQ4 How do high school AP teachers create classroom environments where students achieve?	Importance of relationships	Interviews
RQ5 What supports do high school AP teachers perceive they need to implement DI?	Differing thoughts of differentiation Need for collaboration and time to plan	Interviews

# Table 2

Table Showing	Research	Questions,	Themes,	and Docum	ent Data Sources
---------------	----------	------------	---------	-----------	------------------

Research questions	Themes	Document data source
RQ1 How do high school teachers determine their students' ZPD or readiness, interests, and learning styles?	Use of assessments to inform instruction Knowledge of students	Document review
RQ2 How do high school AP teachers select their content to support all learners?	Teacher use of AP resources Importance of critical thinking, reading, and writing skills	Document review
RQ3 What processes or strategies do high school AP teachers use to differentiate instruction?	Student-centered learning	Document review
RQ4 How do high school AP teachers create classroom environments where students achieve?	NA	
RQ5 What supports do high school AP teachers perceive they need to implement ?	NA	

In the following sections, I present each research question with the findings and themes that were derived from the interviews. Following the interview themes, I then present the findings and themes derived from the document review data.

## **Findings and Themes for RQ1**

RQ1: How do AP teachers determine their students' ZPD or readiness, interests, and learning profiles?

## Interviews

During the interviews, the teachers indicated that they used multiple strategies to gather personal and academic information about their students to determine their students' ZPD or readiness levels, interests and learning profiles. These strategies included interest inventories, surveys, pretests, reading comprehension activities, and writing activities to help determine the students' readiness levels for learning both AP content and skillsets. As previously defined in definition of terms, readiness is the student's current understanding of specified knowledge and skills and with gradual release, the student is able to grasp new, complex ideas (Tomlinson 2017). Before teachers can use DI strategies, teachers must identify students' areas of development where learning can be maximized (Ortega et al., 2018). Vygotsky (1978) theorized that students learn best at a level where there is no frustration and as the area where students can succeed with support. Tomlinson (2017) suggested that to understand a students' readiness for learning, teachers should assess for instruction by providing pretests, interest inventories, or learner profile survey to gather knowledge. An AP teacher's understanding of students' readiness levels assists in planning effective and appropriate

content and process differentiation for students' diverse ability levels. Two themes that emerged were AP teachers realized the importance of *knowledge of students* and the use of assessments for instruction to determine their students' readiness levels for learning new AP content and skills. AP teachers use assessments as a means to design instruction that is appropriate for diverse student needs. Students begin each new AP course or unit of study with differing levels of knowledge and experiences. To determine a student's readiness to learn new content, some AP teachers began the school year with surveys and questionnaires. To gain information on the students' interests, three of the seven teachers indicated that they used surveys or inventories to gain insight into their students' interests and abilities. Teacher A stated, "I have surveys that I give them at the beginning of the year, and I try to glean their interests." Teacher E used a similar strategy when she stated, "I do an interest inventory at the beginning of the year." Teacher G gathered information about her students' abilities by using Northwest Evaluation Association Measures of Academic Progress scores (MAP), interest inventories, and looking at their previous performance in other classes.

Other AP teachers began their school year by determining their students' readiness levels for the AP coursework with formative assessments that are modeled after AP exams. Teachers use formative assessments as a tool. Tomlinson (2017) describes formative assessments as a method to create instruction appropriate to student learning levels. Teacher C stated that AP Classroom, a new tool presented by AP College Board that imitates AP multiple choice and essay exams, helped "on the diagnostic part of my teaching." Teacher C was able to utilize AP Classroom to determine her students' readiness or current knowledge and understanding of the AP content. For example, Teacher C explained how AP Classroom helped to "pinpoint a specific indicator within a standard where a student might struggle." The teacher was then able to provide support for the struggling students. Teacher E began the school year with an introductory Free Response Question (FRQ) that is an official released AP exam question from AP Central. The teacher used the students' responses to determine what they know and to plan strategies for DI. Teacher E also implemented "AP Classroom for differentiation because [the teacher] chooses specific problems to give to students to support students at all levels." With the understanding of students' readiness or current knowledge and skills, the teacher was able to differentiate practice problems with varying degrees of difficulty for the students. Teacher B created writing assignments at the beginning of the year, and the students "write a major essay where they go through multiple revisions" based on their needs. Teacher B was able to assess the students' readiness for writing by providing a formative task that assessed the students' readiness for writing. Teacher A also had students "complete whole text practice with the multiple-choice questions at the very beginning of the year." The surveys, inventories, and preassessments helped AP teachers determine their students' readiness levels for learning new AP content and skillsets. With these tasks, AP teachers were able to determine the students' levels of knowledge and skills and use the information to create differing tasks for their students.

Assessments to inform instruction not only occurred at the beginning of the school year; AP teachers continued to formatively assess as the students continued to learn difficult concepts. Many of the AP teachers found that conferencing was an

effective strategy to use when understanding what their students know and do not know. To illustrate, Teacher E stated,

We just talk to each other, and I can see how they are feeling about the content and if they need any more confidence in it or more specialized help based on anything that may be lacking in their responses. We can work one-on-one and conference through those problems to help get them where they need to be in the end.

Teacher A also stated, "I conference with them early on to ask them to determine what their goals are for the class, and what has worked for them in the past." Teacher B stated, "I will ask 'what do you understand about this'?" As AP teachers taught new concepts, they continued to use assessments and tasks to determine the AP students' readiness levels or current understanding of knowledge and skills as they moved from one unit of learning to the next.

## **Document Review**

Within the AP PLC Canvas course, AP teachers submitted documents and shared files. While the Canvas course did not have documents providing assessments, there were shared documents that supported teachers' knowledge of students' interests. Through several of the shared documents, students were given choices as to how they wanted to present their knowledge. In one course document, students could choose how to demonstrate learning through multiple pathways, including creating a song, presentation, or skit. They were also given choices in reading assignments. In another course document, students were given a list of reading assignments, and students could choose a reading passage based on their personal interests. Giving choice to students engaged them in the learning process and was a way to gain information about students' interests.

## **Findings and Themes for RQ2**

RQ2: How do AP teachers select their content to support all learners? *Interviews* 

AP teachers utilize teaching resources to support all learners in the AP classrooms. I found that *using AP resources provided by AP College Board* was a theme for AP teachers when selecting content for all learners. College Board (2020) offers resources and support for AP teachers in all subjects through the AP Central website.

Some teachers used the AP guidelines to determine the content. AP Central provides specific standards and content for each course. Teacher B stated, "I follow the AP course and exam description" provided through AP Central. Teacher F taught the content "exactly in the order as AP College Board suggested." Likewise, Teacher E stated that when selecting content, "I select content based on what College Board says I should teach." Teacher G said,

I select lessons that cover [my subject] chronologically and match the skills of the periods that College Board has assigned. If College Board say that students should understand a certain time period, I would select content that goes with that.

However, another theme was that AP teachers selected content based on students' interests. Teacher A teaches her content using examples from the real world and pop culture. Teacher D. stated, "I look at overarching universal themes, and I like to show the

diversity through each of those themes." Teacher C selected texts and content based on her "students' personalities" and "varied the texts and content selections each year."

While the AP teachers used AP resources and student interests to guide them in content selection, they also recognized that AP students needed critical thinking, reading, and writing skills to be successful in the AP class and on the AP exam. This created another theme of the *importance of teaching critical thinking, writing, and reading skills*. Teacher G stated,

More than content, the students need thinking skills and need to be able to read any text and be able to analyze it, to comprehend it, ... understand everything about it and be able to use it in an argumentative way.

Teacher A stated that her students needed to use "critical thinking skills through their writing." Teacher E elaborated that students "being able to communicate through their writing is probably the most important skill." Teacher C believed that students "need to know the difference between summarizing and analyzing." Teacher B agreed that "students should be able to think critically." While content and subject knowledge are important, teaching critical thinking, reading, and writing skills were equally important for all AP learners to be successful in AP classrooms and on the AP exam.

## **Document Review**

In the shared AP PLC Canvas course, there were files that supported the interview data and theme of teachers selecting content based on AP College Board suggestions and teaching critical thinking, reading, and writing skills. For the five AP subjects represented in the AP PLC Canvas course, all subject areas had files related to AP writing rubrics. The AP teachers used rubrics released by AP College Board to assess their students' writing. The rubrics detailed the specific requirements of writing assignments. For example, one section of the rubric included the following: "The course requires students to produce one or more analytical writing assignments." This requirement supported the AP teachers' understanding of the importance of teaching critical thinking, reading, and writing skills. Another rubric included the following criteria: "Demonstrates a complex understanding of the historical development that is the focus of the prompt, using evidence to corroborate, qualify, or modify an argument that addresses the question." Again, this supported the need for all AP learners to have critical thinking, reading, and writing skills.

## **Findings and Themes for RQ3**

RQ3: What processes or strategies do AP teachers use to differentiate instruction? *Interviews* 

AP teachers shared DI strategies that support the diverse learners in their classrooms. One theme that became prevalent was the use of *student-centered learning*. A strategy that many AP teachers incorporated in their lessons was different types of grouping based on pairs, skills, small groups, and rotating groups. Teachers use grouping strategies so that students interact, engage, and learn from each other (McGlynn & Kozlowski 2016; Vygotsky 1978). Teacher A used the grouping strategy where she "groups students to teach a skill and then pulls them in smaller groups to address the weaknesses." Teacher D determined that some of the students do not understand difficult concepts and stated,

I started grouping as a strategy very early on with some of the historical documents. I have the students break those down, and we start first in groups. I am working on those skills so that they had their peers to help them along the way.

Teacher G stated,

First, they had some time to work in a group, and then we did a station rotation where each group came to me, and we conferenced and went over their thesis statement.

Teacher D asserted,

I put them in a lot of small groups so that those who do feel overwhelmed talking to the whole group have that smaller environment, and I often walk around with a chair or stool while they're in those small groups.

Teacher E continued,

Sometimes I purposely pair them based on similar ability levels versus different ability levels, depending on if it's a concept they are learning for the first time. But if they need to grow, they can help each other out and take turns teaching each other with their content. Teacher B stated, "I will say 'explain to me, what do you understand about this?" AP teachers routinely used grouping as a strategy to support learners with diverse skills. They recognized the importance of students supporting each other to learn. Teacher A understood that students who struggled "benefit from hearing stronger students explain and use textual evidence to support their claims."

The practice of students creating questions was another strategy that AP teachers used to support the theme of *student-centered learning*. Teachers A and D used Socratic seminars where students developed open-ended questions for classmates and then posed the questions to the class. Teacher D began units with preplanned discussion questions. After using this strategy, Teacher D then allowed the students "to create a question that they want to bring in and have the conversation about; so, there are opportunities for them to get multiple takes, multiple perspectives on things" to develop critical thinking skills. Teacher D also believed that with "Socratic seminars, students are encouraged to challenge one another." Through student-led discussions, AP teachers taught critical thinking skills. Teacher C had a different perspective on questioning; while all students are preparing unique questions for a classroom discussion, not all the students had the skills to create questions. Therefore, she provided question stems to support the diverse learners. Through student-led discussions with student created questions, AP teachers provided opportunities for student centered learning.

Another strategy that supported the student-centered theme was conferencing. All AP teachers discussed holding individual conferences with students in some capacity.

Teacher E stated, "I conference with them early on to ask them what their goals are for the class." Teacher F stated the following:

I gave a pre-quiz on five sections. It did not count for a grade. They turned it in, and I graded all of them [students]. We conferenced about what they missed. I went through the questions individually as the rest of the class was working, got through the whole class, and then we learned a little bit more. We took another quiz, and it was graded. It had similar standards, and then I gave that back. We conferenced again after that and before their tests.

Teacher G stated,

I first introduced what the Document Based Question (DBQ) is as a whole, and then we started working on writing and how you write a thesis. ... the students worked in groups. First, they had some time to work in a group, and then we did a station rotation where each group came to me, and we conferenced and went over their thesis statements.

Many of the teachers incorporated conferencing into class time. Yet, Teacher B viewed conferencing differently. She held "conferencing during the lunchtime that we have available," because she felt that conferencing with students during class time led to feelings of embarrassment. In sum, all AP teachers made time to conference with their students. Conferencing was a strategy that allowed the AP teachers to give individual instruction to support all students.
## **Document Review**

The theme of *student-centered learning* practices and strategies were noted in the district AP PLC Canvas course, where the AP teachers who were part of the course shared different strategies. Some of their practices and strategies included grouping strategies. One file presented in the Canvas course included grouping students into teams of four. The student teams worked together to develop a side to an argument, and then the teams shared their arguments with the group of the opposing argument. This type of activity required students to work together and think critically. The students were responsible for presenting and defending arguments. Then the students had to work together to reach an agreement or consensus. Another strategy that AP teachers shared through the Canvas course was a Jigsaw Rhetorical Analysis Partner Critique. Again, students were grouped and asked to evaluate and analyze specific sections of a peer written response of an AP reading passage. Students were given the task of reading and critiquing their peers' writing responses. Therefore, the students led the learning process by working together, analyzing writing, and evaluating the responses. Through the document review of files in the Canvas course, AP teachers focused on strategies that were student-centered.

# **Findings and Themes for RQ4**

RQ4: How do AP teachers create classroom environments where students achieve?

# Interviews

All AP teachers spoke of the significance of creating positive student relationships in a classroom where students can achieve. Tomlinson (2017) believed that developing a positive, safe classroom environment was important in establishing DI opportunities. The AP teachers understood that it was important for students to feel relaxed, comfortable, and safe in their classrooms. The teachers grouped desks or used tables so student could engage in conversations in an environment conducive to learning. The teachers described their classrooms as noisy, having movement, and relaxed, which created a more collaborative climate. Because of this environment, Teacher D stated, "I feel like the students feel very comfortable talking about things." Teacher E described the classroom setting as "...traditional but relaxed. There's definitely the expectation of learning, but it's also not so structured that they have no freedom to do anything." Teacher F described the classroom as "engaging." Teacher G stated, "I tried to be very inclusive. I tried to let my students know that I am accepting of all of them." Teacher F stated, "... all of my teaching, all of my strategies come down to relationships." Classrooms where teachers create environments that are safe and positive contribute to higher student achievement (Back et al., 2016, Sharma 2015). Jafarik and Asgari (2020) conducted a study on students' academic achievement and found that the research indicated that positive, inclusive classroom environments had a direct and significant effect on students' academic achievements. All the AP teachers described positive, classroom environments where students felt safe, engaged, and included.

## **Findings and Themes for RQ5**

RQ 5: What supports do high school AP teachers perceive they need to implement DI?

#### Interviews

All the teachers acknowledged that DI was important, but their understanding of DI differed and yielded the theme of *differing ideas about DI*. Teacher B said, "I don't know that I do differentiate." Teacher A stated, "I think it is a really important piece to have, differentiation, but I just have not had the time to do it this year." Teachers of advanced students needed to understand how to differentiate and how this will support their students' academic success. Teacher C said, "I do not feel in the AP classroom that we are as challenged to use DI as we are in others." While Teacher A said, "I just need strategies." Teacher G stated the need for "having a more specific understanding of some DI techniques for AP students." AP teachers understood that DI was important for the success of their students, but their understanding and use of DI strategies differed. Another theme that developed through the interviews was the AP teachers did not feel they had time to create DI strategies.

The AP teachers felt they needed support through time for individual planning and district collaborations. While there are multiple AP subjects taught at each school, most of the participants in this study were singleton teachers, meaning they were the only ones to teach the class at their school. Therefore, they were alone in the planning aspect of their courses. The central office did provide opportunities for same subject AP teachers to collaborate planning. Yet, the AP teachers felt they still needed more time to work together as PLCs. Teacher A felt that "collaboration time is needed with time to plan with other teachers." Teacher B wanted time to collaborate with the same subject teacher from the other schools. The teachers felt that it was important to learn from other experts. Teacher A stated, "So I think you learn from people; you get new strategies and different ways of thinking about things in different ways, and that is always valuable." The teachers felt they needed time to collaborate and plan for DI strategies specifically designed for AP students.

## **Discrepant Cases**

Merriam (2009) suggested that researchers "purposefully seek data that might disconfirm or challenge" the findings (p. 219). After carefully reviewing the documents from the PLC AP Canvas course, interview transcripts, and audio recordings of the interviews, I did not find discrepant cases to report. There were no data that challenged the findings throughout the collection, transcription, and coding process.

## **Evidence of Quality**

To ensure I presented an objective, credible truth to my findings, I followed all Walden University IRB recommendations throughout the qualitative case study. Additionally, I triangulated data from interviews and the document review of the AP PLC Canvas course. Merriam (2009) described triangulation as using various sources of data to compare and review data gathered at different times or from people with contrasting perspectives. In my study, I interviewed seven AP teachers who were bound by the same study site and the AP course designation; yet they held different perspectives because of their different content areas. After I transcribed the interviews, I did member checking, which was a two-step process. Merriam (2009) proposed that member checking is a means of ruling out the possibility of misinterpretations and identifying the researcher's biases. Once interviews were completed and transcribed, I sent the individual transcription to each participant via email and asked them to check the transcripts for accuracy. I gave them one week to return any inaccuracies via email. The second member checking occurred after I interpreted the data. Again, I asked the participants to review the draft findings via email to check my interpretations of the findings for the accuracy of their own data and for the viability of the findings in the setting. I, again, gave the participants one week to read through the findings and confirm that my interpretations were accurate of their intended meaning.

As an additional means of validation, I utilized a peer reviewer. I invited a colleague who served as a second committee doctoral chair for another institution to review all the data to check my themes and findings through a peer review process. This colleague signed a confidentiality agreement before reviewing the data. The peer reviewer and I met and discussed the themes and findings. Using triangulation, member checking, and peer review ensured that the data were credible and trustworthy.

# Summary

An exploratory qualitative case study was used to research the strategies that AP teachers used to teach diverse learners in their classrooms. First, I conducted interviews that included semi-structured, open-ended questions that I created and were aligned with the problem statement, literature review, conceptual framework, and five research

questions. Findings from the interviews provided data on the strategies AP teachers used to differentiate instruction to ensure the success of all learners. Participants reported that they used formative data to determine their students' ZPD or readiness. Although knowledgeable and confident in their AP subject area, not all the teachers felt confident teaching diverse learners the skillsets of critical thinking, reading, and writing. However, all AP teachers provided inclusive environments where students felt safe to learn. They felt that creating a positive classroom was integral to student success on the AP exam. AP teachers reported that they needed time to develop DI strategies and desired a greater understanding of DI and how it related to AP students.

The literature in the research detailed the importance of AP teachers using DI strategies so that students could be successful in AP classrooms and on AP exams. Starr (2017) argued that it is the school leaders' responsibility to provide opportunities for students to achieve academically who may not have the skills to be successful in a rigorous AP class. One way to address the needs of diverse learners is through DI both as a school system and in the classroom (Tomlinson, 1999). Judson (2017a) affirmed that there was an upward trend in the number of academically diverse students opting to take AP classes while their AP success rate was poor; therefore, it is important to provide DI for all students (Tomlinson, 2017). Although this study was based on seven participants and a document review of AP Canvas PLC files, it has the implications of improving the success of AP teachers and AP diverse learners.

Interviews from seven participants and analyzing documents from the AP PLC Canvas course yielded eight themes that emerged from the interpretation of the data and included the following:

- use of assessments to inform instruction,
- knowledge of students,
- teacher use of College Board AP resources,
- importance of critical thinking, reading, and writing,
- building relationships,
- student-centered learning,
- differing thoughts of differentiation, and
- the need for collaboration and time.

The findings and emergent themes indicated a need for professional development in the areas of understanding DI and further developing DI strategies as it related to AP diverse learners.

# Conclusion

Section 2 included research methodology, data collection, and data analysis. A qualitative case study was used to explore the DI strategies that AP teachers use to reach the diverse learners in their classrooms. Data collection occurred through an examination of document reviews and through open-ended questions in semi-structured interviews.

The project for this research study is a three-session professional development plan. The rationale, review of literature, method of professional development, project evaluations, strengths, limitations, and implications for social change are discussed in Section 3.

## Section 3: The Project

#### Introduction

In this project study, I explored how AP teachers differentiate instruction through content, process, and assessment to support academically diverse AP students. With the implementation of open enrollment that allows academically diverse students to take AP classes, teachers need to differentiate the content, instructional strategies, and assessments in such a way that all students in the classroom can succeed. AP teachers continued to plan learning experiences for the most advanced learners, but at the same time, they needed to provide support for the learners who may not have the academic skills to be successful (Tomlinson, 2015). My analysis of the data was that the teachers had differing views of what DI looked like in an AP class. The data indicated that the AP teachers needed professional development on how to implement DI in AP classrooms. The data also showed that teachers need time to collaborate to create DI strategies. The literature suggested that many teachers do not understand how to use DI in the classroom and that there is a need for time and professional development opportunities.

#### **Project Description and Goals**

The purpose of this study was to examine the strategies AP teachers use when teaching diverse learners in an AP class. The project I designed to align with the findings of this study was a three-session professional development plan with AP teachers as my targeted audience. The workshops will be delivered at the beginning of the school year, during the midterm, and at the end of the school year. The study participants reported that they needed professional development on how to implement DI with a focus on content, process, and assessment to support academically diverse AP students. The first session will incorporate an overview of the professional development and a presentation of DI and how it relates to content and process. The second session will include assessments and how to differentiate to support diverse learners in AP classrooms. The third session will provide time for teacher collaboration. The goal of this three-session professional development opportunity will be to increase AP teacher effectiveness as it relates to providing DI through readiness, content, process, and environment to ensure student success in AP classes.

## Rationale

The purpose of this project study was to explore how AP teachers differentiate instruction through content, process, and assessment to support academically diverse AP students. The study focused on answering five research questions:

- RQ1: How do high school AP teachers determine their students' ZPD or readiness, interests, and learning profiles?
- RQ2: How do high school AP teachers select their content to support all learners?
- RQ3: What processes or strategies do high school AP teachers use to differentiate instruction?
- RQ4: How do high school AP teachers create classroom environments where students achieve?
- RQ 5: What supports do high school AP teachers perceive they need to implement DI?

Analysis of the collected data indicated that the AP teachers had a need for time, collaboration, and clarification on how to implement DI for diverse students in AP classes. For this study, I created a three-session professional development plan, providing research-based data, modeling, and collaboration time. The first goal for the three-session professional development plan is for AP teachers to have a clear understanding of DI and how this supports the diverse AP learners' success in the classroom and on AP exams. The second goal is that AP teachers will implement DI strategies into their content and assessments. Finally, the third goal is for student achievement to increase because of AP teachers' successful collaboration and implementation of DI in content, process, and assessments.

## **Review of the Literature**

Based on the research, I determined that the professional development experiences should offer teachers opportunities to collaborate, practice new learnings, and reflect as a group using professional learning standards (Learning Forward, 2013). The literature suggested that giving teachers time to collaborate, share, and reflect was an important part of the professional development opportunities where teachers were learners.

To explore the literature that supported DI and professional development, I used Walden University's educational databases and Google Scholar to guide my searches. I used the following key terms: *professional development, Advanced Placement, adult learning, learning communities, professional standards, differentiated instruction.* 

# **Professional Development**

The professional learning association Learning Forward (2013) published professional learning standards to guide educators to "increase educator effectiveness and results for all students" (p. 7), and this applied to both collective and individual learning outcomes. The seven standards established by Learning Forward are the following:

- learning communities,
- leadership,
- resources,
- data,
- learning designs,
- implementation, and
- outcomes.

## Learning Communities

When districts offer professional development opportunities for teachers, they must engage the teachers as learners. Osman and Warner (2020) referred to professional development as any type of program, activity, or training envisioned to improve instructional practice, and believed teachers must be part of the learning process. Research studies have indicated that teachers needed to learn together through learning communities, have time to practice their learnings, and opportunity to reflect with colleagues about their learnings and practice (Hickey & Harris, 2018; Svendsen, 2020). Akiba and Liang (2016) found that school districts were more likely to increase student achievement when the emphasis of professional development was on promoting collaborative learning activities for teachers through learning communities. Adams and Vescio (2015) determined that, just as students in classrooms were diverse, teachers who participated in professional development were also diverse learners and at different places in their careers. As a result, professional development should focus on both collective and individual learning for teachers.

Furthermore, when planning professional development opportunities, professional learning should connect student learning in teacher classrooms, provide time to discuss teaching and learning opportunities, and present opportunities for educators to have their voices heard within the learning community (Adams & Vescio, 2015).

# Leadership

Learning Forward (2013) also recognized the importance of leadership in developing professional development opportunities. The standards support that school leadership had a strong influence on the systems and structures for effective professional development. Nooruddin and Bhamani (2019) concluded that school leadership created cultures in schools where learning communities thrived. The school leadership influenced the learning environment within schools. Swanson et al. (2020) concluded that school leaders must commit to providing professional development on the topic of DI to promote a school culture supportive of differentiation. Although administration helps support the school culture, Hickey and Harris (2018) revealed that another important element of leadership included teachers as leaders. They established that when teachers developed and led professional development opportunities, the overall response was positive. The Learning Forward leadership standard emphasized the significance of cultivating and maintaining a collaborative culture with high expectations and shared responsibilities.

# Resources

According to Learning Forward's (2013) resource standard, schools should provide funds and materials that sustain professional development. Resources include "staff, materials, technology, funding, and time to allocate, track, monitor, and evaluate" professional development (Learning Forward, 2013). One aspect of the resource standard is funding, and professional development is often costly and time prohibitive for districts and educators to implement (Nelson & Bohanon, 2019). Districts find it costly to provide funding for professional development for teachers. Another cost related to professional development was time teachers are absent from their classrooms so that they can participate in professional development opportunities scheduled during the school day (Nelson & Bohanon, 2019). Yet, continuous professional development is critical for improving instruct and student learning, so schools should be creative in their approach to providing resources (Akiba et al., 2015).

#### Data

Another standard included in Learning Forward's (2013) professional standards focuses on data. A desired outcome included using data to "link student, educator, and system data to inform professional learning decisions" as it pertained to need, progress, and effectiveness (Learning Forward, 2013, p. 30). Cox et al. (2015) conducted a study on professional development in four states and found that professional development delivered in continuous, intensive series using teacher leaders and instructional coaches yielded more meaningful outcomes. Gaumer Erickson et al. (2017) indicated that evaluating the quality of professional development comes from data to ensure training is relevant and beneficial to teacher learning and student achievement. School systems that collected data on their professional development were able to make informed decisions about the effectiveness and sustainability of the professional learning outcomes.

# Learning Designs

Just as learners in a classroom are diverse, teachers in professional development sessions are diverse in their learning. Adams and Vescio (2015) found that teachers who participated in professional development had different learning needs. To that end, learning designs are an important standard for creating professional development. The learning designs should be based on research and proven data. Learning Forward (2013) provided guidance for learning designs when schools create professional development. Ineffective professional development, planners create learning designs that appealed to all participants. Within the professional development, presenters model learning designs that align with desired outcomes with a focus on active engagement from the participants (Learning Forward, 2013).

# Implementation

According to Learning Forward (2013), the implementation of professional development focuses on change that is sustainable. Part of implementation is providing a varied, continuous approach to professional development. Single-day, stand-alone, fragmented professional development was not effective for changing teaching behaviors (Gibbons et al., 2017). Korthagen (2017) found that professional development that connected the professional learning with the personal aspects of the teacher was most effective and resulted in a teacher implementing the new learning within classes with sustainability. Biesta et al. (2015) further indicated that professional development opportunities should provide occasions for teachers to have opportunities for discourse about their teaching and learning so that they can develop agency and implement learnings from professional development. They found that it was important for teachers to collaborate, discuss new learnings, and create lessons.

# **Outcomes**

The outcome of all professional development should be to increase teacher effectiveness as it relates to student success. Learning Forward (2013) suggests that schools identify professional learning needs based on the performance standards of teachers. Professional development should be centered on the needs of the teachers based on the outcomes of their students' learnings. Teachers value professional development that was centered on what the teacher believes, values, and needs (Rutherford et al., 2017). Brand (2020) found that when teachers recognized and understood the value of the professional development, then the professional development had the desired outcomes. After professional development events, Brion (2020) determined that teachers' knowledge gained in professional development sessions should be embedded in the job as the teachers apply new learnings, review data, and reflect on results.

# **DI Professional Development**

The goal of differentiated DI is to maximize all students' capacity for learning (Tomlinson, 2015). Teachers support the philosophy of differentiation, but many times

they cannot provide the strategies needed because they do not understand how to implement (Aftab, 2015). Therefore sustained, supportive, intentional, and meaningful professional development is needed. Valiandes and Neophytou (2018) determined that with administrative support and teacher training through professional development, DI does encourage the improvement of student achievement. School leaders who only provide limited DI support through one hour after-school meetings or other limited times are not successful. Teachers, like their students, require differentiated support and guidance when learning how to use DI to maximize student achievement (Brezicha et al., 2015). Additionally, sustained, consistent professional development yields more effective use of DI by teachers (Goddard et al., 2015). Dixon et al. (2014) determined the importance of providing professional development for DI. They concluded that the greater number of hours teachers spent in professional development for DI, the more teachers were apt to include this philosophy in their teaching.

Building a positive DI foundation for teachers is important. Teachers need focused, timely, and sustained professional development to implement DI (Nicolea, 2014). Mills et al. (2014) concluded that differentiation is a complex concept that is difficult for teachers to enact in their classrooms and that schools and districts need to provide more support and professional development.

These studies and concerns suggested a need for districts to provide in-depth professional development and time for AP teachers to demonstrate that they have clear understandings so that they can address the needs of all learners in their diverse classrooms.

## **Project Description**

## **Three-Session Professional Development Workshop**

The purpose of this study was to examine the strategies AP teachers use when teaching diverse learners in an AP class. The project I designed to align with the findings of this study was a three-session professional development plan with AP teachers as my targeted audience. The workshops will be delivered at the beginning of the school year, during the midterm, and at the end of the school year. The participants reported that they needed professional development on how to implement DI with a focus on content, process, and assessment to support academically diverse AP students. The first day will incorporate an overview of the professional development, a presentation of DI, and how it relates to content and process. The second session will include assessments and how to differentiate to support students. The third session will be a summary of the previous workshops and will be time to reflect on DI, share strategies, and plan for continuous AP PLC DI opportunities.

#### **Potential Resources and Existing Supports**

To implement the plan, I will need the following resources: physical space at the central office for the workshops, Internet access, a Touch Panel screen, teacher issued laptops, Internet, markers, and large paper. All the resources are available at our central office location. There is a central office director of professional development whose job is to oversee and help publicize professional development opportunities. There are technology directors to support any technical issues that may arise during the workshops.

#### **Potential Barriers and Potential Solutions to Barriers**

There are few barriers to the implementation of the workshop. One possible barrier is securing space for the workshop. However, a solution to this is there is a district calendar that houses the schedule for the meeting rooms. With preparation, I can secure the space for the workshops. Another potential barrier is the availability of the workshop participants. To ensure that participants will have time to attend the professional development, I will schedule the workshops during district planned professional learning days for teachers.

#### **Implementation and Timetable**

The findings from this study will be formally shared with school leadership. The proposed project is a three-session professional development workshop (Appendix A) that will take place at the beginning of the year, midyear, and at the end of the year. This professional development plan will consist of three major findings from the data. These include an overview of differentiation, how DI supports advanced level classes in content and process, and implementation of DI strategies in AP classrooms.

Session one of the workshops will take place within the first month of school and will include a presentation of research studies of DI and the effects on student achievement. Teachers will read excerpts from articles on using DI in classrooms with a focus on content and process or strategies. The participants will discuss and reflect on what they observe and how it applies to their own classroom. Teachers will also understand the importance of knowing their students' readiness levels or ZPD. There will also be time to discuss DI strategies as they relate to advanced students who are diverse learners. Teachers will share best practices of understanding student readiness, collaborate with peers, and develop plans to use DI in their classrooms before the second session of the workshop.

The second workshop will occur midyear. Teachers will have implemented DI strategies from the first session and reflected on their understanding and application of DI in advanced classes. The second workshop will include time for teachers to collaborate. The data analysis and literature review support the idea that teachers need time to share best practices of using DI strategies in their AP classrooms. The teachers will also create lessons with DI strategies and ask peers to review them to provide feedback before the third workshop. Bleiler-Baxter et al. (2020) found that an important step in creating collaborative communities was through peer observation. During this workshop, teachers will have time to collaborate, plan, and arrange peer observations using a Classroom Observation form developed by Killion (2013) for Learning Forward. The observation template is from Killion's (2013) *Professional Learning Plans: A Workbook for States, Districts, and Schools,* and is included in the workbook as a tool for educators to use for academic purposes. I also obtained permission via email from ASCD to use the template as part of the workshop.

The third workshop will occur at the end of the school year and will be a time of reflection and planning for continuous support. Sustained, consistent professional development yields effective use of DI by teachers (Goddard et al., 2015). Therefore, the third workshop design will include planning for teachers to continue working as an AP

learning community. During the workshop, the teachers will share data from their observations, reflect, and plan.

## **Roles and Responsibilities of Student and Others**

As the researcher of this project study, my role and responsibility are to communicate the findings to the local school district administration. I will present the project study findings to the district leadership team and ask for permission to invite AP teachers to the workshops. My main role is to present the workshop to the AP teachers. I will be the organizer and facilitator. It is my responsibility to coordinate with district leaders to obtain the space for the workshops, work with technology leaders for access to resources, and coordinate with the director of professional learning for incorporating the workshops into the district schedule. The role of the AP teachers will be to collaborate and engage in the workshops. District leaders will also be invited to attend the workshop.

## **Project Evaluation Plan**

I created the project to support the needs of AP teachers, as the research data indicated. To assess the effectiveness of the three-session workshops, I decided the best evaluation plan would be formative evaluation. The overall goal of this professional learning opportunity is continuous growth and reflection, so formative assessment works best for evaluating the process of the workshops. The plan includes collaboration, reflection, and peer observations. Formative evaluations align with the goals of supporting teachers with DI in their classroom as they learn how to implement DI. However, summative assessments are finite in their evaluation, and using a summative evaluation after the participants have time to implement their learnings and new knowledge will allow me to evaluate the overall effectiveness of creating change in their teaching and student achievement (Killion, 2013).

I selected formative evaluation for the evaluation process because it allows participants to provide feedback after each session in modes such as survey forms and in informal ways such as questions and comments throughout the workshops. For example, an informal evaluation may come from a participant asking questions or the facilitator asking the participants for feedback throughout the workshops. Responses may give the facilitator information on what is working or what may need to change for clarification and understanding. At the end of each workshop, the participants will be asked to complete written evaluation surveys. This formative data will allow the facilitator to collect data on the effectiveness of the sessions and to make adjustments for future workshops.

A summative survey will be sent to the participants during the following school year to determine if the workshop promoted positive change in the participants' daily teaching and planning. The overall goal of the evaluation is to determine if the participants were positively influenced by the information learned and if the learnings were incorporated into the teachers' teaching practices.

# Stakeholders

Stakeholders for the professional learning workshops include AP teachers, school principals, instructional coaches, and district leaders. I expect the AP teachers to learn from each other to develop DI strategies that will support the achievement of the diverse

learners in their classrooms. The instructional coaches and school principals will support teachers with resources and concerns.

# **Project Implications**

## **Local Community**

This project has many implications for social change. I created the project to meet the needs of AP teachers who have diverse learners in their classrooms. Many teachers associate DI strategies with students who struggle with basic academic skillsets. Others find DI difficult to implement. The results of the data analysis revealed that teachers wanted to learn more about DI and how they can implement strategies for their students in AP classes. Through this project, teachers may gain more confidence and knowledge of DI. Students will benefit from learning experiences that are tailored to their learning needs. As a result, student achievement may increase in AP classrooms. Increased success of students in AP classes by diverse learners may create opportunities for positive social change in that more underserved students will be provided opportunities to achieve in AP classes.

## Larger Context

This professional development plan has the potential to support teachers beyond the local school district. With the increase of academically diverse students who choose to take AP classes, there is a growing need for DI to support these students (Gagnon & Mattingly, 2016; Godley et al., 2015; Tomlinson, 2017). This professional development workshop may provide a model for other districts to imitate to support student achievement and success of all learners within an AP classroom. Equity and access to AP classes open the door for diverse learners; thus, teachers must meet the needs of all students through DI.

# Conclusion

In Section 3, I provided a description of the proposed project, provided a rationale for the project study, reviewed literature as it related to professional development opportunities, presented the program evaluation plan, and discussed implications for social change in both the local and in a larger context. In Section 4, I will present the strengths and limitations of the project, make recommendations for alternative approaches, and describe my learning process. Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

# Introduction

Section 4 details both the strengths and limitations of my project study. Additionally, I include a self-reflection of the overall work and what I learned as a student, researcher, and writer. I then recommend alternative approaches to the study and reflect on the overall process. Finally, I describe future recommendations for further research.

## **Project Strengths and Limitations**

One strength of this project is that it focused on the need for providing professional learning experiences for teachers on the implementation of DI in AP classes. Many teachers struggle with implementing DI and do not understand how it can be used for advanced learners in AP classrooms. AP students are diverse learners that range from students who struggle academically to students who are labeled as gifted and talented (Warne, 2017; Warne et al., 2015). Therefore, a three-session workshop focusing on collaboration, reflection, and implementation should have a positive effect on AP students because teachers may be better equipped to support all learners.

Another strength is that the project provides teachers with time to collaborate and create lessons that include DI strategies, content, and assessments. Throughout the project, teachers are included in the learning process, and this is an important element for teacher learning (Osman & Warner, 2020). The project included large and small group collaboration times to provide teachers with opportunities for discourse and planning.

A limitation of this project may be the participants' time investment in a workshop commitment that spans a school year. To embark on a school year professional learning project, all participants must be engaged, collaborative, and reflective. The teachers must be motivated by the need for further knowledge on ways to support diverse learners. Teachers should volunteer to participate and not be required by administration or district mandates.

#### **Recommendations for Alternative Approaches**

The problem targeted in this study was that teachers need to understand DI, implement DI in advanced classrooms, and have the time to collaborate and reflect through a year-long professional development plan. To address this problem differently, I could have approached the study differently. An alternate approach could have included a focus on specific AP subject areas. I could also have included classroom observations and explored AP teachers' lesson plans to gather data. Another approach could have been to develop a training that spanned 3 consecutive days instead of a school year. Continuous, intensive professional development is effective (Cox et al., 2015). A consecutive 3-day time frame could provide teachers with an in-depth and immersive style of professional development.

Another alternative to the three-session approach would be to conduct the professional development series as a recorded webinar. The webinar could be housed on the school district website and would allow AP teachers to participate during times that are conducive to them. This would also allow teachers to participate according to their learning needs and pace (Adams & Vescio, 2015).

# Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

Throughout my EdD journey, I developed scholarly skills. First, I learned that research skills include critical reading, critical thinking, and scholarly writing. Learning to read critically suggests that students summarize, analyze, and synthesize information. These skills are then synthesized into new learnings. Through the process, I have learned how to research a topic using multiple peer-reviewed journals, summarize important information, analyze the data, and synthesize the information to think critically about a topic. I learned how to collect and organize information from multiple sources. Research students must understand the connections and disparities among the different concepts on similar topics and organize the information into clear findings and assertions. With each assertion, the research student must provide sources from scholarly articles. I learned that all research includes strengths, limitations, and alternative approaches. This approach taught me that research is a continuous and fluid journey.

Throughout the process, I established a greater knowledge of scholarly writing. Clear, concise writing is critical to scholarly writing. Word choice, syntax, and purpose help create clarity. Understanding and knowing grammatical and syntactical rules are important for preciseness. Correctly documenting and citing authors and researchers is critical in the research process.

# **Project Development**

Based on the data analysis, I determined that a three-session professional development series would be the best project to develop because of my research. The

progression and organizing a professional development plan based on research have allowed me to strengthen my skills as a collaborator, educator, and organizer. I have also learned that attention to detail, organization of ideas, and overcoming barriers are important skills for educational leaders and scholars. The data collection process allowed me to collect data from participants based on their needs as AP teachers who teach academically diverse learners. During the planning process of the project study, I learned that it is important to ground the work in peer-reviewed research and studies. I learned that professional development has standards just as course curriculum does and that planning learning sessions for educators should be standards based. Many professional development opportunities are single-day trainings without follow-up or evaluations. As a result of my research, I learned that sustained, continuous professional learning opportunities are best suited for teacher agency and sustainability. Finally, I learned that continuous learning is important to effect change in the educational world.

## Leadership and Change

As a developer of a project with social implications for change in how teachers support academically diverse learners, I have acquired leadership skills. I have become more adept at creating and organizing professional development opportunities grounded in research that are specifically tailored to teachers' needs. I have the confidence to support and train teachers in applying DI strategies and support in AP teachers' classrooms. I feel confident in my abilities to lead teachers through the professional development process. I developed a three-session professional development series that supported teachers of academically diverse learners.

## Analysis of Self as Scholar

As an educator with 34 years of classroom experience, I did not see myself as a scholar. I was a teacher and a learner, but not a scholar. Yet, this doctoral journey has helped me to develop into a scholar who reads research studies to improve my teaching and positively impact my students' learning. As a result of the project study, through conducting the research, reading the peer-reviewed articles, and writing in a scholarly style, I view myself as a scholar.

# Analysis of Self as Practitioner

This project study has affected my professional experience as a practitioner. I have learned about the importance of using scholarly research to change my own teaching and learning practice. Applying research findings to my daily classroom practices helps me to improve my students' success. Now, when I am presented with a topic or new educational idea, I immediately look for research articles to support and further my knowledge and understanding.

# Analysis of Self as Project Developer

I have confidence in my ability as a project developer. I have organized and created a series of professional development workshops for teacher leaders in my state. I also have experience with leading professional development opportunities in my district and school. I used my experience developing past projects to guide my decisions for details and engage the participants in professional learning.

#### **Reflection on Importance of the Work**

There is a paucity of research on DI as it relates to advanced students or students who take AP classes. This doctoral study is important because it focuses on how teachers can implement DI in their classrooms, where there are diverse learners. In this work, I plan to support teachers in implementing DI and knowing how to support academically diverse learners so that students can achieve. It is imperative that AP teachers recognize the academically diverse learners in their classroom and create strategies that support their learning needs so that these students can experience academic success. The project developed as part of this study presents approaches to support the AP teachers' need for time and collaboration for creating strategies that support all learners. This work could positively affect AP teachers and their abilities to meet students' academically diverse needs in AP classes.

#### **Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research**

Minimal research exists about DI in AP classrooms. This project study is important because it addresses the need of all AP students and the support that is needed to ensure that academically diverse students succeed in AP classrooms. In this work, I aimed to describe the strategies and support that AP teachers use to reach all learners so they can experience success. Further research is needed for specific AP subject areas and the DI support that students need. For example, AP English Literature and Composition students may have different academic needs and supports than AP AB Calculus students. Because there is little research on DI in AP classrooms, additional research may be needed to address students' needs in specific subject areas.

# Conclusion

Using an exploratory case study approach, I explored the DI strategies AP teachers use to support the increasing number of academically diverse learners who enter AP classrooms through open enrollment. The recommendations based on the data and findings were utilized to create a professional development plan that supported diverse learners. Teachers identified the need for understanding DI, knowing how to implement DI, and having the time for collaboration and sharing best practices. The professional development plan based on the needs of teachers and students could improve teacher learning and AP student achievement when utilizing DI strategies in the classroom.

#### References

- Adams, A., & Vescio, V. (2015). Tailored to fit: Structure professional learning communities to meet individual needs. *Journal of Staff Development*, *36*(2), 26-28.
- Aftab, J. (2015). Teachers' beliefs about differentiated instructions in mixed ability classrooms: A case of time limitation. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 2(2), 94–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v2i2.441</u>
- Akiba, M., & Liang, G. (2016). Effects of teacher professional learning activities on student achievement growth. *Journal of Educational Research*, 109(1), 99–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2014.924470</u>
- Akiba, M., Wang, Z., & Liang, G. (2015). Organizational resources for professional development: a statewide longitudinal survey of middle school mathematics teachers. *Journal of School Leadership*, 25(2), 252+.

https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461502500203

- Al-Subaiei, M. S. (2017). Challenges in mixed ability classes and strategies utilized by ELI teachers to cope with them. *English Language Teaching*, *10*(6), 182–189. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v10n6p182</u>
- Armstrong, C. (2015). In the zone: Vygotskian-inspired pedagogy for sustainability. *The Journal of Classroom Interaction*, *50*(2), 133-144.
- Back, L., Polk, E., Keys, C., & McMahon, S. (2016). Classroom management, school staff relations, school climate, and academic achievement: testing a model with urban high schools. *Learning Environments Research*, 19(3), 397–410.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-016-9213-x

Bal, A. P. (2016). The effect of the differentiated teaching approach in the algebraic learning field on student academic achievements. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 63, 185-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.14689/ejer.2016.63.11</u>

Bavis, P. (2016). Detracked - and going strong: A diverse high school detracks its freshman courses and sees impressive gains down the road in terms of AP attendance and achievement scores. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *98*(4), 37-42.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721716681775

Biesta, G., Priestley, M., & Robinson, S. (2015). The role of beliefs in teacher agency. *Teachers and Teaching*, 21(6), 624-640.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2015.1044325

- Birnie, B. F. (2015). Making the case for differentiation. *Clearing House*, 88(2), 62 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2014.99860</u>
- Blankenberger, B., Lichtenberger, E., Witt, M. A., & Franklin, D. (2017). Diverse students, high school factors, and completion agenda goals: An analysis of the Illinois class of 2003. *Education and Urban Society*, 49(5), 518–545.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124516644047

- Bleiler-Baxter, S. K., Hart, J. B., & Wanner, S. C. A. (2020). Teaching TRIOs: Using peer observation to initiate department change. *PRIMUS*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511970.2020.1772918
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (2007). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods*. Pearson.

Brand, B. (2020). Integrating science and engineering practices: outcomes from a collaborative professional development. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00210-x</u>

Brezicha, K., Bergmark, U., & Mitra, D. L. (2015). One size does not fit all:
Differentiating leadership to support teachers in school reform. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *51*(1), 96–132.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x14521632

- Brion, C. (2020). Learning transfer: The missing linkage to effective professional development. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 23(3), 32-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458920919473</u>
- Cameron, R., Clark, P., De Zwaan, L., English, D., Lamminmaki, D., O'Leary, C., & Sands, J. (2015). The importance of understanding student learning styles in accounting degree programs. *Australian Accounting Review*, 25(3), 218–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12065</u>
- Civitillo, S., Denessen, E., & Molenaar, I. (2016). How to see the classroom through the eyes of a teacher: Consistency between perceptions on diversity and differentiation practices. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *16*, 587–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12190</u>

Clapper, T. C. (2015). Cooperative-based learning and the zone of proximal development. *Simulation & Gaming*, *46*(2), 148-158. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878115569044 College Board. (2002). Equity policy statement.

https://www.sduhsd.net/documents/Parents%20and%20Students/Special%20Prog rams/Access\_Equity\_4.10.6.1.pdf

College Board. (2014). 10 years of Advanced Placement data show significant gains in access and success; areas for improvement [Press Release].

https://newsroom.collegeboard.org/10-years-advanced-placement-exam-datashow-significant-gains-access-and-success-areas-improvement

College Board. (2017). AP Data: Archived data 2016.

https://research.collegeboard.org/programs/ap/data/participation/ap-2016

College Board. (2020). AP Course and Exam Pages.

https://apcentral.collegeboard.org/courses

Colquitt, G., Pritchard, T., Johnson, C., & McCollum, S. (2017). Differentiating instruction in physical education: Personalization of learning. *JOPERD: The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 88(7), 44–50.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2017.1340205">https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2017.1340205</a>

- Conderman, G., & Hedin, L. (2017). Differentiating study guides. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 53(1), 19-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/105341217692799</u>
- Councill, K., & Fiedler, L. (2017). Gifted 101: Unlocking the mystery of academically gifted education. *Music Educators Journal*, *103*(4), 48–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0027432117697005</u>
- Cox, M., Hollingsworth, H., & Buysse, V. (2015). Exploring the professional development landscape: Summary from four states. *Early Childhood Research*

Quarterly, 32, 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.03.002

Creswell, J. (2012). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research*. Laureate Education, Inc.

De Meester, A., Van Duyse, F., Aelterman, N., De Muynck, G.-J., & Haerens, L. (2020).
An experimental, video-based investigation into the motivating impact of choice and positive feedback among students with different motor competence levels. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 25(4), 361.
https://doi.org/10.1080/17408989.2020.1725456

Dixon, F. A., Yssel, N., McConnell, J. M., & Hardin, T. (2014). Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 37(2), 111–127.
<a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353214529042">https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353214529042</a>

Dosch, M., & Zidon, M. (2014). The course fit us: Differentiated instruction in the

college classroom. *International Journal of Teaching & Learning in Higher Education*, 26(3), 343-357.

- Ekstam, U., Linnanmäki, K., & Aunio, P. (2017). The impact of teacher characteristics on educational differentiation practices in lower secondary mathematics instruction.
   *LUMAT: International Journal on Math, Science and Technology Education*, 5(1), 41-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.31129/LUMAT.5.1.253</u>
- Eun, B. (2017). The zone of proximal development as an overarching concept: A framework for synthesizing Vygotsky's theories. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*. <u>https://doi:10.1080/00131857.2017.1421941</u>
Fenty, N. S., & Allio, A. (2017). Using distance learning to impact access of diverse learners to advanced placement programs. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 18(2), 39-56.

Firmender, J. M., Reis, S. M., & Sweeny, S. M. (2013). Reading comprehension and fluency levels ranges across diverse classrooms: The need for differentiated reading instruction and content. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 57(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986212460084

- Fitzgerald, P. (2016). Differentiation for literacy levels in mainstream classrooms. *Literacy Learning: The Middle Years*, 24(2), 17-25.
- Frey, N., & Fisher, D. (2017). Quality core instruction and differentiation: Dispositions and effective practices. *Perspectives on Language and Literacy*, 43(3), 29-32.
- Gagnon, D., & Mattingly, M. (2016). Advanced placement and rural schools. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 27(4), 266-284.
- Gaitas, S., & Martins, A. (2016). Teacher perceived difficulty in implementing differentiated instructional strategies in primary school. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 21(5), 544-556.
- Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences. Basic Books.
- Gaumer Erickson, A. S., Noonan, P. M., Brussow, J., & Supon Carter, K. (2017).
   Measuring the quality of professional development training. *Professional Development in Education*, 43(4), 685–688.
- Gibbons, L. K., Kazemi, E., & Lewis, R. M. (2017). Developing collective capacity to improve mathematics instruction: Coaching as a lever for school-wide

improvement. The Journal of Mathematical Behavior, 46, 231-250.

- Gibson, W., & Brown, A. (2009). Working with Qualitative Data. London, England, United Kingdom: SAGE Publications, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857029041
- Goddard, Y., Goddard, R., & Minjung, K. (2015). School instructional climate and student achievement: An examination of group norms for differentiated instruction. *American Journal of Education*, 122(1), 111-131.
- Godley, A., Monroe, T., & Castma, J. (2015). Increasing access to and success in advanced placement English in Pittsburgh public schools. *English Journal*, 105(1), 28-33.
- Gritter, K., Beers, S., & Knaus, R. W. (2013). Teacher scaffolding of academic language in an advanced placement U.S. history class. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 56(5), 409–418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/JAAL.158</u>
- Gumpert, M., & McConell, W. (2019). Different strokes for different folks. *Science and Children*, *57*(2), 62–70.
- Helgeson, J. (2017). Differentiating through literature circles. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 53(1), 41-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2016.1264821</u>
- Hickey, W. D., & Harris, S. (2018). Improved professional development through teacher leadership. *The Rural Educator*, 26(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v26i2.511</u>
- Jafari, S., & Asgari, A. (2020). Predicting students' academic achievement based on the classroom climate, mediating role of teacher-student interaction and academic motivation. *Integration of Education*, 24(1), 62–74.

https://doi.org/10.15507/1991-9468.098.024.202001.062-074

- Judson, E. (2017a). How science and math teachers address different course levels:
  Advanced placement (AP), honors, and regular. *High School Journal*, *100*(4), 226–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/hsj.2017.0010</u>
- Judson, E. (2017b). Science and mathematics advanced placement exams: Growth and achievement over time. *Journal of Educational Research*, *110*(2), 209-217.
- Judson, E., & Hobson, A. (2015). Growth and achievement trends of advanced placement (AP) exams in American high schools. *American Secondary Education*, 43(2), 59–76.
- Killion, J. (2013). Professional learning plans: A workbook for states, districts, and schools. Learning Forward.
- Koch, B., Slate, J. R., & Moore, G. W. (2016). Advanced placement English exam scores. *Education & Urban Society*, 48(7), 685-716.
- Kolluri, S. (2018). Advanced placement: The dual challenge of equal access and effectiveness. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(5), 671–711.
- Korthagen, F. (2017). Inconvenient truths about teacher learning: towards professional development 3.0, *Teachers and Teaching*, 23(4), 387-405. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2016.1211523</u>
- Learning Forward. (2013). Standards for professional learning. Learning forward: The professional learning association. <u>https://learningforward.org/standards-for-professional-learning/</u>

Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2010). Method in educational research: From

theory to practice. John Wiley & Sons.

- Luna, E., Ernst, J., Clark, A., DeLuca, V. W., & Kelly, D. (2018). Enhancing classroom creativity. *Technology & Engineering Teacher*, 77(6), 26–31.
- Maeng, J. L., & Bell, R. L. (2015). Differentiating science instruction: Secondary science teachers' practices. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(13), 2065–2090. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2015.1064553</u>
- McClung, N. A., Barry, E., Neebe, D., Mere-Cook, Y., Wang, Q., & Gonzalez-Balsam,
  M. (2019). Choice matters: equity and literacy achievement. *Berkeley Review of Education*, 8(2), 147–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.5070/B80037656</u>
- Melo, M., Santos, F., Wright, P. M., Sá, C., & Saraiva, L. (2020). Strengthening the connection between differentiated instruction strategies and teaching personal and social responsibility: Challenges, strategies, and future pathways. *The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 91(5), 28–36.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2020.1734506

- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.
- McGlynn, K., & Kozlowski, J. (2016). Empowering students through collaboration. *Science Scope*, 40(4), 64–67.

http://doi.org/10.2505/4/ss16\_040\_04\_64

Mills, M., Monk, S., Keddie, A., Renshaw, P., Christie, P., Geelan, D., & Gowlett, C. (2014). Differentiated learning: From policy to classroom. *Oxford Review of Education*, 40(3), 331–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2014.911725</u>

- Morgan, H. (2014). Maximizing student success with differentiated learning. *The Clearing House*, 87, 34–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2013.832130</u>
- Muijs, D., & Reynolds, D. (2015). Teachers' beliefs and behaviors: What really matters? *Journal of Classroom Interaction*, *50*(1), 25-40.

Nelson, J., & Bohanon, H. (2019). Blue ocean shift: Evidence-based practice in the professional development of teachers. *International Journal of Advanced Corporate Learning*, 12(2), 4–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3991/ijac.v12i2.10688</u>

- NHS AP Data. (2016). [Spreadsheet of NHS AP data from secure, password-protected AP Central]. Unpublished raw data.
- Nicolea, M. (2014). Teachers' beliefs as the differentiated instruction starting point: Research basis. *Social and Behaviors Sciences*, *128*, 426-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.182</u>
- Nooruddin, S., & Bhamani, S. (2019). Engagement of school leadership in teachers' continuous professional development: A case study. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 6(1), 95–110.
- Ocampo, D. M. (2018). Effectiveness of differentiated instruction in the reading comprehension level of grade-11 senior high school students. *Asia Pacific Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 6(4), 1-10.

Ortega, D. P., Cabrera, J. M., & Benalcázar, J. V. (2018). Differentiating instruction in the language learning classroom: theoretical considerations and practical applications. *Journal of Language Teaching & Research*, 9(6), 1220-1228. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0906.11</u>

- Osman, D. J., & Warner, J. R. (2020). Measuring teacher motivation: The missing link between professional development and practice. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 92, N.PAG. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103064</u>
- Pablico, J., Diack, M., & Lawson, A. (2017). Differentiated instruction in the high school science classroom: Qualitative and quantitative analyses. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching, and Educational Research, 16*(7), 3-34.
- Park, K., Caine, V., & Wimmer, R. (2014). The experiences of advanced placement and international baccalaureate diploma program participants: A systematic review of qualitative research. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 25(2), 129-153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202x14532258
- Prast, E. J., Van de Weijer-Bergsma, E., Kroesbergen, E. H., & Van Luit, J. E. H. (2018).
  Differentiated instruction in primary mathematics: Effects of teacher professional development on student achievement. *Learning and Instruction*, 54, 22–34.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2018.01.009

Rowland, M., & Shircliffe, B. (2016). Confronting the "acid test": Educators' perspectives on expanding access to advanced placement at a diverse Florida high school. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 90(3), 404-420, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2016.1184947</u>

Royston, N. S. (2017). Improving music teaching through interpersonal relationships. *Music Educators Journal*, 103(4), 34–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0027432117698023</u>

Rutherford, T., Long, J. J., & Farkas, G. (2017). Teacher value for professional

development, self-efficacy, and student outcomes within a digital mathematics intervention. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *51*, 22–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2017.05.005</u>

- Senturk, C., & Sari, H. (2018). Investigation of the contribution of differentiated instruction into science literacy. *Qualitative Research in Education*, 7(2), 197– 237.
- Sharma, S. (2015). Promoting risk taking in mathematics classrooms: The importance of creating a safe learning environment. *Mathematics Enthusiast*, *12*(1–3), 290–306.
- Shaw, E. J., Marini, J. P., & Mattern, K. D. (2013). Exploring the utility of advanced placement participation and performance in college admission decisions. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(2), 229–253.
- Smit, J., Van Eerde, H., & Bakker, A. (2013). A conceptualisation of whole-class scaffolding. *British Educational Research Journal*, 39(5), 817–834. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3007
- South Carolina Department of Education. (2016). 2016 results of the Advanced Placement examination. https://www.ed.sc.gov/scdoe/assets/File/data/testscores/national-assessment/ap/2009AP.pdf
- Starr, J. P. (2017). Using Advanced Placement as a lever for social justice: Encouraging and allowing students to enroll in rigorous courses is a critical first step in providing more equity in high schools. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 2, 72-73.
- Suprayogi, M., Valcke, M., & Godwin, R. (2017). Teachers and their implementation of differentiated instruction in the classroom. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 67,

291-301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.06.020

- Svendsen, B. (2020). Inquiries into teacher professional development: What matters. *Education*, *140*(3), 111-130.
- Swanson, J. A., Ficarra, L. R., & Chapin, D. (2020). Strategies to strengthen differentiation within the common core Era: Drawing on the expertise from those in the field. *Preventing School Failure*, 64(2), 116–127.
- Taylor, B. (2015). Content, process, and product: Modeling differentiated instruction. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 51(1), 13-17.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2015.988559

- Thomas, I. A., & Green, R. L. (2015). Using instructional strategies to enhance student's achievement. *National Forum of Teacher Education Journal*, 25(3), 1-18.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1999). The differentiated classroom: Responding to the needs of all learners. ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2015). Teaching for excellence in academically diverse classrooms. *Society*, 52(3), 203-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12115-015-9888-0</u>
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2017). *How to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms*. ASCD.
- Valiandes, S. (2015). Evaluating the impact of differentiated instruction on literacy and reading in mixed ability classrooms: Quality and equity dimensions of education effectiveness. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 45, 17-26.
- Valiandes, S., & Neophytou, L. (2018). Teachers' professional development for differentiated instruction in mixed-ability classrooms: investigating the impact of

a development program on teachers' professional learning and on students' achievement. *Teacher Development*, 22(1), 123–138.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2017.1338196

- Van Driel, S., Slot, E., & Bakker, A. (2018). A primary teacher learning to use scaffolding strategies to support pupils' scientific language development. *European Journal of STEM Education*, 3(2), 1-14.
- Van Geel, M., Keuning, T., Frèrejean, J., Dolmans, D., van Merriënboer, J., & Visscher,
   A. J. (2018). Capturing the complexity of differentiated instruction. School
   Effectiveness and School Improvement.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2018.1539013

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in Society. Harvard University Press.

Wan, S. (2015). Differentiated instruction: Hong Kong prospective teachers' teaching efficacy and beliefs. *Teachers and Teaching*, 22(2), 148-176.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2015.1055435

- Warne, R. (2017). Research on the academic benefits of the advanced placement program: Taking stock and looking forward. *New Educational Foundations*, 4, 32-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016682996</u>
- Warne, R. T., Larsen, R., Anderson, B., & Odassoa, A. J. (2015). The impact of participation in the advanced placement program on students' college admissions test scores. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *5*, 400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2014.917253</u>

Wass, R., & Golding, C. (2014). Sharpening a tool for teaching: the zone of proximal

development. Teaching in Higher Education, 19(6), 671-684.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2014.901958

- Yin, R. K. (2009). How to do better case studies: With illustrations from 20 exemplary case studies. L. Bickman & D. J. Rog (Eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483348858</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage Publications.
- Zulu, E., Haupt, T., & Tramontin, V. (2018). Cognitive loading due to self-directed learning, complex questions and tasks in the zone of proximal development of students. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 76(6), 864.

Appendix: The Project

DI Strategies Advance	d Placement Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners
Purpose	The purpose for this 3-session professional development is to develop AP teachers' capacity for implementing differentiation through process, content, and assessment.
Target Audience	All AP teachers at the district in this study. The principals and instructional leaders are invited to participate.
Goals and Objectives	Objectives Demonstrate a knowledge of differentiation and how DI supports diverse learners in AP classrooms.
	Create lessons for diverse students in AP classrooms.
	Implement DI through process, content, and assessments. Goals
	The goals in-depth professional development and time for AP teachers to demonstrate that they have clear understandings so that they can address the needs of all learners in their diverse classrooms.
Evaluation	Participants will complete KWL to assess their knowledge of DI in AP classrooms. Formative assessments in the form of questions and surveys will determine participants understanding, need for further explanation, and effectiveness of each session. A summative assessment will be sent to the participants in July. This will give the participants time to reflect on the overall effectiveness of the goals of the professional development workshop sessions.
Resources/Materials	Internet Laptop Touch Screen Panel Post-it poster paper Colored markers/sharpies School issued teacher computers Post-it notes Pens and pencils
	<ul> <li>1 inch binders for participants to organize notes and handouts</li> <li>Lined paper</li> <li>Handouts: Peer Observation forms, excerpt</li> <li>Chapter 1 from Tomlinson's <i>Teaching</i></li> <li><i>Diverse Learners</i>, Toolbox handout Post assessment evaluation</li> <li>Weblinks: <ul> <li>Link to Padlet</li> <li>Link to Piktograph</li> <li>Link to Collegeboard.org</li> </ul> </li> <li>Name tags</li> <li>Exit tickets</li> </ul>





Participants will sign in and attach name tags.

9-9:15

All participants will be seated at tables and begin session. Ice Breakers—each person will describe 1 unique characteristic about themselves.

Remind participants where bathrooms and refreshments are located.



Review meeting norms. Stress the importance of a safe learning environment where participants can share ideas.















Ask participants to complete What I know and What I want to know on handout. Share at table. Each table will create a Post-it poster of what they know and what they want to learn. Each table will post around the room and share with the whole group.

9:30-9:45



Allow participants to read slide. Tell participants that these are the students in your AP classroom. Tell them that all AP students do take the same exam.

Go to next slide.

Ask the partipants to reflect on the following questions:

Which student will succeed? Why?

Which student(s) will fail? Why?

What could the teacher do to support the students?

## Activity

Imagine these are your students in the classroom. We all know they DO take the same AP exam. How would you support each individual student? Each table will choose a "student" and think of ways to help the "student" succeed in climbing the tree test.

Assign each table a student--monkey, penguin, elephant, fish, seal, and dog. Share.

9:45-10:15

Break (10:15-10:30)



Provide data from AP scores released by College Board and AP Central. Ask teachers to review data from past years? Participants will need to access AP Central (www.research.collegeboard.org). Direct participants to *Report to Nation* data.

Table Share



What does the data show about the success of ALL AP students?

What can teachers do to support all learners so that all AP students make 3, 4, or 5?

10:30-11:00

## RESEARCH AND THEORY THE WHY?



Gardner's theory supports the idea that students learn using multiple intelligences that include the following: logic, spatial, musical, visual, kinesthetic, interpersonal and intrapersonal (Gardner, 1983). Focusing on the premise that all children are not alike in

how they learn; Gardner's theory suggests that students can be gifted in areas other than mathematics and language arts. When teachers provide students different educational opportunities through content, process, and products, then they are differentiating and providing best instructional practices for the individual students.

Allow discussion of Gardner's Theory of Multiple Intelligences and what this means in AP classrooms.

## 11:00-11:10



Vygotsky's Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD) is the area in children's development where they can learn, but they must do so under the guidance of a teacher, and when they master the concept they can learn on their own (Vygotsky, 1978). Vygotsky theorized that children learn best at a level where there is no frustration and as the area where children can succeed if they are partnering with peers of similar abilities. Children can learn when the concept is difficult and challenging but only when the idea is within their capacity for understanding. Before DI can be incorporated into the classroom, teachers must identify students' areas of development where learning can be maximized. When teachers know their students' zone of proximal development, then they can scaffold or differentiate to help all learners find academic success.

Participants will create a poster for ideas and strategies for determining ZPD. Post and Share with a Gallery Walk

11:10-11:30

Explain each aspect

Using differentiation, AP teachers can provide multiple approaches for the content that students learn, how students understand the material, and the means students show mastery of the skills.



Distribute handout and read excerpt. Participants will write down 3 take-aways to share with table group.

11:30-12:00



Review Tomlinson and overview.

ACTIVITY	<ul> <li>Each table group will create a chart using the app/website Piktochart.</li> <li><u>https://create.piktochart.com/poster</u></li> <li>Present charts to whole group</li> </ul>
<i>011177121</i> 21112171	

Table groups will create an electronic poster using the app Piktochart of their takeaways from the Tomlinson excerpt. Send the completed poster to <u>patti.tate@waldenu.edu</u>. She will share with the other participants on Touch Panel. Participants will present their "posters".

1:15-2:00



Participants will group by "similar" subject areas. Using your knowledge of DI, create a mini lesson. Please modify and teach the lesson to your AP classes. You will be asked to reflect on the experience and share during Session 2.

2:00-3:30 Time to Collaborate



Thank the participants for their time. Each table will have copies of the evaluation. Participants will be asked to complete the form and leave on table as they leave.





Participants will sign in and attach name tags.

9-9:15

All participants will be seated at tables and begin session.

Remind participants where bathrooms and refreshments are located.



Review meeting norms. Stress the importance of a safe learning environment where participants can share ideas.







Table share of DI lessons

What worked?

What would you change about the next lesson?

Each table will share what they learned.

9:30-10:00





Discuss research articles and share facts and statistics on how DI strategies supported DI learners and had a positive effect on achievement. Participants will search for DI strategies and discuss how to adapt to AP students. Participants from each table will then share jigsaw style with other table participants.

This will begin filling toolbox of strategies for teachers.

Handouts on table of Tool Box

10:15-12:00



Review DI and Process and Content. Introduce DI and assessments.



Using the Padlet, teachers will share ideas on DI and assessments.

1:15-2:00



Participants will share DI assessment ideas using Padlet. They will type in the link provided in their search bar. They will be directed to Padlet where they will post their

ideas and will be able to read other participants' ideas and suggestions about DI assessments. 1:15-2:00

Distribute Peer Observation forms from ASCD—obtained permission to use.

Introduce why peer observations are important.



Give participants 5 minutes to read over observation form; discuss take away and salient parts of form.

2:00-2:30

0DLO3DWWL7DWH2XWORRN

## Permission

Christy Colclasure <christy.colclasure@learningforward.org> Mon 8/24/2020 11:41 AM To: Patti Tate <patti.tate@waldenu.edu> Hi Patti,

Learning Forward is pleased to grant you permission to use the following tool in your doctoral study.

Please ensure that the following citation and credit line appear with your material. Used with permission of Learning Forward, www.learningforward.org. All rights reserved.

"Tool 6.2 - Peer observation practice and implications," by Joellen Killion, Professional Learning Plans: A Workbook for States, Districts, and Schools, 2013.

Thank you for your interest in our work.

Christy

KWWSVRXWORRNRIÀFHFRPPDLOGHHSOLQN"YHUVLRQ

SRSRXWY





Participants will collaborate and design mini DI lessons. They should partner with another participant and schedule a time to observe the lesson. During the lesson, they will be asked to complete the peer observation form. We will use the observation feedback during Session 3.



Thank the participants for their time. Each table will have copies of the evaluation. Participants will be asked to complete the form and leave on table as they leave.




Participants will sign in and attach name tags.

9-9:15

All participants will be seated at tables and begin session. Ice Breakers—each person will describe 1 unique characteristic about themselves.

Remind participants where bathrooms and refreshments are located.



Review meeting norms. Stress the importance of a safe learning environment where participants can share ideas.

9:15-9:30



Welcome participants.

9-9:15

All participants will have handwritten name tags.





Participants will share at their tables about their experiences and data with the peer observations. The observers will share strategies they saw in the lessons.

Tables will list strategies on post-it paper to place around the room.

Gallery Walk

9:30-10:30





Review DI and Process and Content and Assessment

10:45-11:15

Let's synthesize the information we have learned and think about the following question:

How will DI through Process, Content, and Assessment support diverse learners in AP classrooms?



11:15-12:00

Give participants 15 minutes to reflect and write their answer on post-it paper and place around the room

Silent Graffiti—participants will silently move from poster to poster and write a response to their colleague's answers. (30 mins.)





After lunch we will summarize and discuss responses to question. (During lunch break, I will create a Wordle with their responses and share with group.) 1:15-1:30



Provide collaborative time for AP teachers to plan lessons and to create a PLC plan for the next school year to continue the DI work.

Create a plan to submit for continuing the work.

1:30-3:15



Thank the participants.

Tell them that they will receive an anonymous summative evaluation survey about the impact of their participation on the achievement success of their AP students. The survey will be sent in July after AP scores have been released.

# **Evaluations**

# Formative Evaluation Session 1, 2, 3 (Circle the Session) 1. Did you attend this professional development workshop with specific expectations? \_\_\_\_Yes \_\_\_\_No 2. To what extent were your expectations met? \_\_\_\_Less than expected \_\_\_\_\_ Just as I expected \_\_\_\_\_More than expected 3. Rate the time allotted to each section of the PD. \_\_\_\_Not adequate \_\_\_\_Adequate enough \_\_\_\_More than adequate 4. Rate the overall content of this session. Poor \_\_\_\_Satisfactory Excellent

- \_\_\_\_\_
- 5. What part of the PD was most beneficial to you?
- 6. What parts of the PD needs improvement?
- 7. How will you use the information you learned?
- 8. What do you want to see in the next session?

#### Summative Evaluation

This form will be completed by all participants and will be sent through a Survey Monkey so that respondents can remain anonymous. The form will be sent 2 months after Session 3. This will give participants time to reflect and review student AP data to determine if they believe DI strategies had a positive impact on their students' achievement.

1. To what extent were your expectations met?

\_\_\_\_Less than expected

\_\_\_\_\_ Just as I expected

\_\_\_\_\_More than expected

- 2. Rate the time allotted to each section of the PD.
  - \_\_\_\_Not adequate \_\_\_\_Adequate enough

\_\_\_\_\_More than adequate

- 3. Rate the overall content of the PD.
  - Poor Satisfactory Excellent
- 4. What part of the PD was most beneficial to you?
- 5. What parts of the PD needs improvement?
- 6. Do you think the information impacted student achievement in your classroom? Please explain.

# DI Strategies Advanced Placement Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners

# **3-Session Professional Development**

# Day 1

**Goals:** Demonstrate a knowledge of differentiation and how DI supports diverse learners in AP classrooms; create lessons for diverse students in AP classrooms; and implement DI through process, content, and assessments.

Time	Activity	
8:30-9:00	Sign-in, name tags	
9:00-9:15	Welcome, Icebreaker	
9:15-9:30	Meeting Norms, Agenda, Goals	
9:30-9:45	KWL Chart; participants will create a Post-it poster for <i>What I Want to Know</i> to post around the room.	
9:45-10:15	Activity –How would you support these students? (monkey, penguin, elephant, fish, seal, dog.) Participants will create support that the "students need in order to "climb the tree" test. (Share with whole group.)	
10:15-10:30	Break	
10:30-11:00	AP Data from AP Central at www.research.collegeboard.org. Using the data, the participants will answer the following question: What does the data show about the success of AP students? What can teachers do to support all learners so that all AP students can make a 3,4, or 5 on AP exams? (Table Share)	
11:00-11:30	Introduce DI theories and research data. (Slides 14-16)	
11:30-12:00	Read handout—chapter 1 of Carol Tomlinson's <i>Teaching Diverse Learners</i> . List 3 takeaways.	
12:00-1:15	Lunch on your own	
1:15-2:00	Create a Piktochart poster with table members. Use the Piktochart website. Send completed poster to <u>patti.tate@waldenu.edu</u> for whole group presentation. Mrs. Tate will share the completed posters on the Touch Panel and group members will discuss takeaways.	
2:00-3:15	Time to collaborate. Participants will group by similar subject areas and using knowledge from Session1, create a mini lesson to implement before Session 2.	

# **Day 1 Handouts**

What I Know	What I Want to Know	What I Learned

# **KWL Chart**

9/27/2020

#### Mail - Patti Tate - Outlook

#### RE: Permission to use excerpt from C.A. Tomlinson's 2017 How to Differentiate Instruction

Permissions <permissions@ascd.org> Sun 9/27/2020 2:56 PM

To: Patti Tate <patti.tate@waldenu.edu> Dear Patti:

In response to your request below, please consider this permission to use the excerpt(s) from the referenced publication for your personal research purposes. Should you include excerpts or cite content in a paper or some other report form, please credit the source accordingly. If your research results in use of our content in a product or publication for commercial release, please contact me again to secure further rights to do so.

Thank you for your interest in ASCD and good luck with your studies.

Sincerely yours,

KATY WOGEC • Permissions Consultant for ASCD 1703 N. Beauregard Street • Alexandria, VA 22311-1714 P 240-478-4788



Join us: 🖬 🖕

From: Patti Tate <patti.tate@waldenu.edu> Sent: Friday, September 25, 2020 5:45 PM To: Permissions <permissions@ascd.org> Subject: Permission to use excerpt from C.A. Tomlinson's 2017 How to Differentiate Instruction

Good evening,

My name is Patti Tate and I am a doctoral student at Walden University. As part of my study, I am developing a 3-day workshop for my district based on the need for Advanced Placement teachers to differentiate in their classrooms where there are diverse learners.

I am asking permission to use an excerpt from C. A. Tomlinson (2017). How to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms. Alexandria, VA: ASCD from chapter 1.

After the excerpt has been read, I will collect and shred.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,

Patti Tate

# Excerpted from Tomlinson, C. A. (2017). *How to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.

Kids of the same age aren't all alike when it comes to learning any more than they are alike in terms of size, hobbies, personality, or food preferences. Kids do have many things in common, because they are human beings and because they are all young people, but they also have important differences. What we share in common makes us human, but how we differ makes us individuals. In a classroom with little or no differentiated instruction, only student similarities seem to take center stage. In a differentiated classroom, commonalities are acknowledged and built upon, and student differences also become important elements in teaching and learning.

At its most basic level, differentiating instruction means "shaking up" what goes on in the classroom so that students have multiple options for taking in information, making sense of ideas, and expressing what they learn. In other words, a differentiated classroom provides different avenues to acquiring content, to processing or making sense of ideas, and to developing products so that each student can learn effectively.

In many classrooms, the approach to teaching and learning is more unitary than differentiated. For example, 1st graders may listen to a story and then draw a picture about the beginning, middle, and end of the story. While they may choose to draw different aspects of the elements, they all experienced the same content, and they all engaged in the same sensemaking or processing activity. A kindergarten class may have four centers that all students visit to complete the same activities in a week's time. Fifth graders may all listen to the same explanation about fractions and complete the same homework assignment. Middle school or high school students may sit through a lecture and a video to help them understand a topic in science or history. They will all read the same chapter, complete the same lab or end-of-chapter questions, and take the same quiz—all on the same timetable. Such classrooms are familiar, typical, and largely undifferentiated.

Most teachers (as well as students and parents) have clear mental images of such classrooms. After experiencing undifferentiated instruction over many years, it is often difficult to imagine what a differentiated classroom would look and feel like. How, educators wonder, can we make the shift from "single-size instruction" to differentiated instruction to better meet our students' diverse needs? To answer this question, we first need to clear away some misperceptions.

#### What Differentiated Instruction Is NOT

#### Differentiated instruction is NOT "individualized instruction."

Decades ago, in an attempt to honor students' learning differences, educators experimented with what was called "individualized instruction." The idea was to create a different, customized lesson each day for each of the 30-plus students in a single classroom. Given the expectation that each student needed to have a different reading assignment, for example, it didn't take long for teachers to become exhausted. A second flaw in this approach was that in order to "match" each student's precise entry level into the curriculum with each upcoming lesson, instruction needed to be segmented or reduced into skill fragments, thereby making learning largely devoid of meaning and essentially irrelevant to those who were asked to master the curriculum.

While it is true that differentiated instruction can offer multiple avenues to learning, and although it certainly advocates attending to students as individuals, it does not assume a separate assignment for each learner. It also focuses on meaningful learning—on ensuring all students engage with powerful ideas. Differentiation is more reminiscent of a one-room-schoolhouse than of individualization. That model of instruction recognized that the teacher needed to work sometimes with the whole class, sometimes with small groups, and sometimes with individuals. These variations were important both to move each student along in his or her particular understandings and skills, and to build a sense of community in the group.

#### Differentiated instruction is NOT chaotic.

Most teachers remember the recurrent, nightmarish experience from their first year of teaching: losing control of student behavior. A bench- mark of teacher development is the point at which the teacher becomes secure and comfortable with managing classroom routines. Fear of returning to uncertainty about "control of student behavior" is a major obstacle for many teachers in establishing a flexible classroom. Here's a surprise, though: teachers who differentiate instruction are quick to point out that, if anything, they now exert more leadership in their classrooms, not less. *And* student behavior is considerably more focused and productive.

Compared with teachers who offer a single approach to learning, teachers who differentiate instruction have to be more active leaders. Often they must help students understand how differentiation can support greater growth and success for everyone in the class, and then help them develop ground rules for effective work in classroom routines—all while managing and monitoring the multiple activities that are going on. Effectively differentiated classrooms include purposeful student movement and sometimes purposeful student talking, but they are not disorderly or undisciplined. On the contrary, "orderly flexibility" is a defining feature of differentiated classrooms—and of any classroom that prioritizes student thinking. Research tells us that neither "disorderly" environments nor "restrictive" ones support meaningful learning (Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2007).

# Differentiated instruction is NOT just another way to provide homogeneous grouping.

Our memories of undifferentiated classrooms probably include the blue- bird, cardinal, and buzzard reading groups. Typically, a buzzard remained a buzzard, and a cardinal was

forever a cardinal. Under this system, buzzards nearly always worked with buzzards on skills-focused tasks, while work done by cardinals was typically at "higher levels" of thought. In addition to being predictable, student assignment to groups was virtually always teacher-selected.

A hallmark of an effective differentiated classroom, by contrast, is the use of flexible grouping, which accommodates students who are strong in some areas and weaker in others. For example, a student may be great at interpreting literature but not so strong in spelling, or great with map skills and not as quick to grasp patterns in history, or quick with math word problems but careless with computation. Teachers who uses flexible grouping also understand that some students may begin a new task slowly and then launch ahead at remarkable speed, while others will learn steadily but more slowly. They know that sometimes they need to assign students to groups so that assignments are tailored to student need, but that in other instances, it makes more sense for students to form their own working groups. They see that some students prefer or benefit from independent work, while others usually fare best in pairs or triads.

In a differentiated classroom, the goal is to have students work consistently with a wide variety of peers and with tasks thoughtfully designed not only to draw on the strengths of all members of a group but also to shore up those students' areas of need. "Fluid" is a good word to describe assignment of students to groups in such a heterogeneous classroom. See the Appendix for more information on flexible grouping.

#### Differentiated instruction is NOT just "tailoring the same suit of clothes."

Many teachers think they are differentiating instruction when they let students volunteer to answer questions, grade some students a little harder or easier on an assignment in response to the students' perceived ability and effort, or let students read or do homework if they finish a class assignment early. Certainly, such modifications reflect a teacher's awareness of differences in student needs and, in that way, the modifications *are* movement in the direction of differentiation. While such approaches play a role in addressing learner variance, they are examples of "micro-differentiation" or "tailoring," and are often just not enough to adequately address significant learning issues.

If the basic assignment itself is far too easy for an advanced learner, having a chance to answer an additional complex question is not an adequate challenge. If information is essential for a struggling learner, allowing him to skip a test question because he never understood the information does nothing to address the student's learning gap. If the information in the basic assignment is simply too complex for a learner until she has the chance to assimilate needed background information or language skills, being "easier

on her" when grading her assignment circumvents her need for additional time and support to master foundational content. In sum, trying to stretch a garment that is far too small or attempting to tuck and gather a garment that is far too large is likely to be less effective than getting clothes that are the right fit. Said another way, small adjustments in a lesson may be all that's needed to make the lesson "work" for a student in some instances, but in many others, the mismatch between learner and lesson is too great to be effectively addressed in any way other than re-crafting the lesson itself.

#### Differentiated instruction is NOT just for outliers.

Certainly, students who have identified learning challenges such as autism spectrum disorder, ADHD, intellectual disabilities, visual impairment, and so on are likely to need scaffolding on a fairly regular basis in order to grow academically as they should. Likewise, students who learn rapidly, think deeply, and readily make meaningful connections within or across content areas will need advanced challenge on a regular basis in order to grow as *they* should. And students who are just learning the language spoken in the classroom will typically require support as they seek to master both content and the language in which it is communicated. But in virtually any class on any day, there are students "in the middle" who struggle moderately, or just a little, with varied aspects of what they are seeking to learn.

There are students who know a good bit about a portion of a lesson or unit but struggle with specific steps or content. There are students whose experiences outside the classroom weigh negatively on their ability to concentrate or complete work. There are students who are just about to "take flight" with an idea that has been out of their reach and need encouragement and a boost to ensure their launch is successful. Every student benefits from being on the teacher's radar and from seeing evidence that the teacher understands their development and plans with their success in mind.

### What Differentiated Instruction IS Differentiated instruction IS proactive.

In a differentiated classroom, the teacher assumes that different learners have differing needs and proactively plans lessons that provide a variety of ways to "get at" and express learning. The teacher may still need to fine-tune instruction for some learners, but because the teacher knows the varied learner needs within the classroom and selects learning options accordingly, the chances are greater that these experiences will be an appropriate fit for most learners. Effective differentiation is typically designed to be robust enough to engage and challenge the full range of learners in the classroom. In a one-size-fits-all approach, the teacher must make reactive adjustments whenever it becomes apparent that a lesson is not working for some of the learners for whom it was intended.

For example, many students at all grade levels struggle with reading. Those students need a curriculum with regular, built-in, structured, and supported opportunities to develop the skills of competent readers. While it may be thoughtful, and helpful in the short term, for a teacher to provide both oral and written directions for a task so that students can hear what they might not be able to read with confidence, their fundamental reading problems are unlikely to diminish unless the teacher makes proactive plans to help students acquire the specific reading skills necessary for success in that particular content area.

#### Differentiated instruction IS more qualitative than quantitative.

Many teachers incorrectly assume that differentiating instruction means giving some students more work to do, and others less. For example, a teacher might assign two book reports to advanced readers and only one to struggling readers. Or a struggling math student might have to complete only computation problems while advanced math students complete the computation problems plus a few word problems.

Although such approaches to differentiation may seem reasonable, they are typically ineffective. One book report may be too demanding for a struggling learner without additional concurrent support in the process of reading as well as interpreting the text. Or a student who is perfectly capable of acting out what happened in the book might be overwhelmed by writing a three-page report. If writing one book report is "too easy" for the advanced reader, doing "twice as much" of the same thing is not only unlikely to remedy that problem but could also seem like punishment. A student who has already demonstrated mastery of one math skill is ready to stop practicing that skill and needs to begin work with a subsequent skill. Simply adjusting the quantity of an assignment will generally be less effective than altering the nature of the assignment to match the actual student needs.

#### Differentiated instruction IS rooted in assessment.

Teachers who understand that teaching and learning approaches must be a good match for students look for every opportunity to know their students better. She sees conversations with individuals, classroom discussions, student work, observation, and formal assessment as ways to keep gaining insight into what works for each learner. What they learn becomes a catalyst for crafting instruction in ways that help every student make the most of his or her potential and talents.

In a differentiated classroom, assessment is no longer predominantly something that happens at the end of a unit to determine "who got it." Diagnostic pre-assessment routinely takes place as a unit begins to shed light on individuals' particular needs and interests in relation to the unit's goals. Throughout the unit, systematically and in a variety of ways, the teacher assesses students' developing readiness levels, interests, and approaches to learning and then designs learning experiences based on the latest, best understanding of students' needs. Culminating products, or other means of "final" or summative assessment, take many forms, with the goal of finding a way for each student to most successfully share what he or she has learned over the course of the unit.

# Differentiated instruction IS taking multiple approaches to content, process, and product.

In all classrooms, teachers deal with at least three curricular elements: (1) **content** input, what students learn; (2) **process**—how students go about making sense of ideas and information; and (3) **product**—output, or how students demonstrate what they have learned. These elements are dealt with in depth in Chapters 12, 13, and 14.

By differentiating these three elements, teachers offer different approaches to what students learn, how they learn it, and how they demonstrate what they've learned. What the different approaches have in common is that they are crafted to encourage substantial growth in all students with established learning goals and to attend to pacing and other supports necessary to advance the learning of both the class as a whole and individual learners.

#### Differentiated instruction IS student centered.

Differentiated classrooms operate on the premise that learning experiences are most effective when they are engaging, relevant, and interesting to students. A corollary to that premise is that all students will not always find the same avenues to learning equally engaging, relevant, and interesting. Further, differentiated instruction acknowledges that later knowledge, skill, and understandings must be built on previous knowledge, skill, and understandings—and that not all students possess the same learning foundations at the outset of a given investigation. Teachers who differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms seek to provide appropriately challenging learning experiences for all their students. These teachers realize that sometimes a task that lacks challenge for some learners is frustratingly complex to others.

In addition, teachers who differentiate understand the need to help students develop agency as learners. It's easier sometimes, especially in large classrooms, for a teacher to tell students everything rather than guide them to think on their own, accept significant responsibility for learning, and build a sense of pride in what they do. In a differentiated classroom, it's necessary for learners to be active in making and evaluating decisions that benefit their growth. Teaching students to work wisely and share responsibility for classroom success enables a teacher to work with varied groups or individuals for portions of the day because students are self-directing. It also prepares students far better for life now and in the future.

# Differentiated instruction IS a blend of whole-class, group, and individual instruction.

There are times in all classrooms when whole-class instruction is an effective and efficient choice. It's useful for establishing common under- standings, for example, and provides the opportunity for shared discussion and review that can build a sense of community. As illustrated in Figure 1.1, the pattern of instruction in a differentiated classroom could be represented by mirror images of a wavy line, with students coming together as a whole group to begin a study, moving out to pursue learning in small groups or individually, coming back together to share and make plans for additional investigation, moving out again for more work, coming together again to share or review, and so on.



#### Differentiated instruction IS "organic" and dynamic.

In a differentiated classroom, teaching is evolutionary. Students and teachers are learners together. While teachers may know more about the subject matter at hand, they are continuously learning about how their students learn. Ongoing collaboration with students is necessary to refine learning opportunities so they're effective for each student. Teachers monitor the match between learner and learning and make adjustments as warranted. And while teachers are aware that sometimes the learner/learning match is less than ideal, they also understand that they can continually make adjustments. This is an important reason why differentiated instruction often leads to more effective learner/learning matches than the mode of teaching that insists that one assignment serves all learners well.

Further, teachers in a differentiated classroom do not see themselves as someone who "already differentiates instruction." Rather, they are is fully aware that every hour of teaching and every day in the classroom can reveal one more way to make the classroom a better environment for its learners. Nor do such teachers see differentiation as "a strategy" or something to do once in a while or when there's extra time. Rather, it is a way of life in the classroom. They do not seek or follow a recipe for differentiation, instead, they combine what they can learn about differentiation from a range of sources with their own professional instincts and knowledge base in order to do whatever it takes to reach each learner.

### A Framework to Keep in Mind

As you continue reading about how to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms, keep this framework in mind:

In a differentiated classroom, the teacher proactively plans and carries out varied approaches to content, process, and product in anticipation of and response to student differences in readiness, interest, and learning needs.

# DI Strategies Advanced Placement Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners

### **3-Session Professional Development**

# Day 2

**Goals:** Demonstrate a knowledge of differentiation and how DI supports diverse learners in AP classrooms; create lessons for diverse students in AP classrooms; and implement DI through process, content, and assessments.

Time	Activity
8:30-9:00	Sign in, name tags
9:00-9:15	Welcome, Icebreaker
9:15-9:30	Meeting Norms, Agenda, Goals
9:30-10:00	Reflections of DI mini lessons. Participants will discuss what worked and the changes for the next lesson. (Table share)
10:00-10:15	Break
10:15-12:00	Distribute <i>Toolbox of DI Strategies</i> Handout to each participant for their notebook. They will use time to research DI process/strategies and discuss how the strategies will support AP students. Then each table participant will jigsaw to another table and share their expertise with other table members. Participants will begin to fill their toolbox handout of DI strategies.
12:00-1:15	Lunch on your own
1:15-2:00	DI Assessments Activity. Using a Padlet link
2:00-2:30	Peer Observation form from ASCD used with permission. Discuss salient parts of observation form.
2:30-3:15	Collaborate to create mini-DI lessons and arrange peer observations for Session 3.
3:15-3:30	Exit Ticket: Evaluation Form

Day 2 Handouts

# **Differentiation Toolbox**

Processes and strategies



Assessments



9/28/2020

Mail - Patti Tate - Outlook

#### Permission

Christy Colclasure <christy.colclasure@learningforward.org> Mon 8/24/2020 11:41 AM To: Patti Tate <patti.tate@waldenu.edu> Hi Patti,

Learning Forward is pleased to grant you permission to use the following tool in your doctoral study.

Please ensure that the following citation and credit line appear with your material. Used with permission of Learning Forward, www.learningforward.org. All rights reserved.

"Tool 6.2 - Peer observation practice and implications," by Joellen Killion, Professional Learning Plans: A Workbook for States, Districts, and Schools, 2013.

Thank you for your interest in our work.

Christy

# Peer observation practices and implications

Use this tool to record ideas gained during a visit to a colleague's classroom and to consider the implications of those ideas for your own teaching practice.

Purpose	Record ideas gained during a visit to a colleague's classroom. Consider how the ideas might be useful in your own classroom.		
Non-purpose	Judge your colleague's performance. Identify ineffective teaching strategies.		
Time	Time of classroom visit and approximately 20-30 minutes for reflection		
Record the behaviors you observed during your visit to your colleague's class. After the class, consider the implications for your classroom.			



Class d	Class description:			
	Observations		Implications for your practice	
	learningforward	91	XXXMFBSOJOHGPSXBSEPSHt	

Used with permission of Learning Forward, www.learningforward.org. All rights reserved.

"Tool 6.2 - Peer observation practice and implications," by Joellen Killion, *Professional Learning Plans: A Workbook for States, Districts, and Schools,* 2013.

# DI Strategies Advanced Placement Teachers Use to Teach Diverse Learners

# **3-Session Professional Development**

# Day 3

**Goals:** Demonstrate a knowledge of differentiation and how DI supports diverse learners in AP classrooms; create lessons for diverse students in AP classrooms; and implement DI through process, content, and assessments.

Time	Activity
8:30-9:00	Sign in, name tags
9:00-9:15	Welcome, Icebreaker
9:15-9:30	Meeting Norms, Agenda, Goals
9:30-10:45	Participants at tables will share their take-aways from their participation in peer observations. The participants will share strategies and list on post-it paper to place around the room. After all participants have completed activity, they will complete a Gallery Walk to view the posters. We will convene with an overall group discussion of the peer observation experience with a focus on DI strategies.
10:30-10:45	Break
10:45-11:15	Review with in-depth discussion of DI content, process, and assessments.
11:15-12:00	Participants will reflect and write their answers to the following question on Post-it paper to be placed around the room: How will DI through process, content, and assessments, support diverse learners in AP classrooms?
	Once the participants have completed the task, the students will participate in Silent Graffiti. During Silent Graffiti, participants walk around the room, read responses, and leave a response.
12:00-1:15	Lunch on your own
1:15-1:30	Summarize the responses from the graffiti activity.
1:30-3:15	Collaborative time for AP teaches to plan DI lessons and to create a plan for the next school year to continue the AP PLC DI work.
3:15-3:30	Exit slip- Evaluation Form. Tell participants to look for summative form in July about the impact of their participation on the achievement success of their AP students.
	Thank the participants.

#### References

College Board. (2002). Equity policy statement.

https://www.sduhsd.net/documents/Parents%20and%20Students/Special%20Prog rams/Access\_Equity\_4.10.6.1.pdf

College Board. (2014). 10 years of Advanced Placement data show significant gains in access and success; areas for improvement [Press Release]. https://newsroom.collegeboard.org/10-years-advanced-placement-exam-data-show-significant-gains-access-and-success-areas-improvement

College Board. (2017). AP Data: Archived data 2016.

https://research.collegeboard.org/programs/ap/data/participation/ap-2016

Eun, B. (2017). "The zone of proximal development as an overarching concept: A framework for synthesizing Vygotsky's theories," *Educational Philosophy and Theory*. <u>https://doi:10.1080/00131857.2017.1421941</u>

Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences. Basic Books.

- Judson, E., & Hobson, A. (2015). Growth and achievement trends of advanced placement (AP) exams in American high schools. *American Secondary Education*, 43(2), 59–76.
- Killion, J. (2013). Professional learning plans: A workbook for states, districts, and schools. Learning Forward.
- Learning Forward. (2013). Standards for professional learning. Learning forward: the professional learning association. https://learningforward.org/standards-for-professional-learning/.

- NHS AP Data. (2016). [Spreadsheet of NHS AP data from secure, password protected AP Central]. Unpublished raw data.
- South Carolina Department of Education. (2016). 2016 results of the Advanced Placement examination. https://www.ed.sc.gov/scdoe/assets/File/data/testscores/national-assessment/ap/2009AP.pdf
- Taylor, B. (2015). Content, process, and product: Modeling differentiated instruction. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, *51*(1), 13-15.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2015.988559

- Tomlinson, C. A. (1999). The differentiated classroom: Responding to the needs of all learners. ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2015). Teaching for excellence in academically diverse classrooms. Society, 52(3), 203-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12115-015-9888-0</u>
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2017). How to differentiate instruction in academically diverse classrooms. ASCD.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society. Harvard University Press.
- Wass, R., & Golding, C. (2014). Sharpening a tool for teaching: the zone of proximal development. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 19(6), 671–684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2014.901958</u>